
 
 
Democratic Services   

Guildhall, High Street, Bath BA1 5AW   

Telephone: (01225) 477000 main switchboard   

Direct Lines - Tel: 01225 394458  Date: 7
th
 September 2015  

Web-site - http://www.bathnes.gov.uk E-mail: Democratic_Services@bathnes.gov.uk 

 
 
To: All Members of the Children and Young People Policy Development and 

Scrutiny Panel 
 
Councillors: Lisa Brett, Karen Warrington, Peter Turner, Sally Davis, Alison Millar, 
Liz Hardman and Alan Hale (substitute for Matt Cochrane) 
 
Co-opted Voting Members: David Williams and Andrew Tarrant 
 
Co-opted Non-Voting Members: Chris Batten and Rebecca Thompson 

 
Chief Executive and other appropriate officers  
Press and Public  

 
 
Dear Member 
 
Children and Young People Policy Development and Scrutiny Panel: Tuesday, 15th 
September, 2015  
 
You are invited to attend a meeting of the Children and Young People Policy Development 
and Scrutiny Panel, to be held on Tuesday, 15th September, 2015 at 9.30 am in the 
Brunswick Room - Guildhall, Bath. 
 
The agenda is set out overleaf. 
 
Yours sincerely 
 
 
 
Mark Durnford 
for Chief Executive 
 
 
 

If you need to access this agenda or any of the supporting reports in an alternative 
accessible format please contact Democratic Services or the relevant report author 
whose details are listed at the end of each report. 

 

This Agenda and all accompanying reports are printed on recycled paper 

 



NOTES: 
 

1. Inspection of Papers: Any person wishing to inspect minutes, reports, or a list of the 
background papers relating to any item on this Agenda should contact Mark Durnford who 
is available by telephoning Bath 01225 394458 or by calling in at the Guildhall, Bath  
(during normal office hours). 
 

2. Public Speaking at Meetings: The Council has a scheme to encourage the public to 
make their views known at meetings. They may make a statement relevant to what the 
meeting has power to do.  They may also present a petition or a deputation on behalf of a 
group.  Advance notice is required not less than two full working days before the meeting 
(this means that for meetings held on Wednesdays notice must be received in Democratic 
Services by 4.30pm the previous Friday)  
 

The public may also ask a question to which a written answer will be given. Questions 
must be submitted in writing to Democratic Services at least two full working days in 
advance of the meeting (this means that for meetings held on Wednesdays, notice must 
be received in Democratic Services by 4.30pm the previous Friday). If an answer cannot 
be prepared in time for the meeting it will be sent out within five days afterwards. Further 
details of the scheme can be obtained by contacting Mark Durnford as above. 
 

3. Details of Decisions taken at this meeting can be found in the minutes which will be 
published as soon as possible after the meeting, and also circulated with the agenda for 
the next meeting.  In the meantime details can be obtained by contacting Mark Durnford as 
above. 
 

Appendices to reports are available for inspection as follows:- 
 

Public Access points - Reception: Civic Centre - Keynsham, Guildhall - Bath, The Hollies 
- Midsomer Norton. Bath Central and Midsomer Norton public libraries. 
 
For Councillors and Officers papers may be inspected via Political Group Research 
Assistants and Group Rooms/Members' Rooms. 
 

4. Recording at Meetings:- 
 
The Openness of Local Government Bodies Regulations 2014 now allows filming and 
recording by anyone attending a meeting. This is not within the Council’s control. 
 
Some of our meetings are webcast.  At the start of the meeting, the Chair will confirm if all 
or part of the meeting is to be filmed.  If you would prefer not to be filmed for the webcast, 
please make yourself known to the camera operators. 
 
To comply with the Data Protection Act 1998, we require the consent of parents or 
guardians before filming children or young people. For more information, please speak to 
the camera operator 
 
The Council will broadcast the images and sound live via the internet 
www.bathnes.gov.uk/webcast An archived recording of the proceedings will also be 
available for viewing after the meeting. The Council may also use the images/sound 
recordings on its social media site or share with other organisations, such as broadcasters. 
 

5. Attendance Register: Members should sign the Register which will be circulated at the 
meeting. 
 



6. THE APPENDED SUPPORTING DOCUMENTS ARE IDENTIFIED BY AGENDA ITEM 
NUMBER. 
 

7. Emergency Evacuation Procedure 
 

When the continuous alarm sounds, you must evacuate the building by one of the 
designated exits and proceed to the named assembly point.  The designated exits are 
sign-posted. 
 

Arrangements are in place for the safe evacuation of disabled people. 
 

 



 

 

Children and Young People Policy Development and Scrutiny Panel - Tuesday, 15th 
September, 2015 

 
at 9.30 am in the Brunswick Room - Guildhall, Bath 

 
A G E N D A 

 
 

1. WELCOME AND INTRODUCTIONS  

 

2. EMERGENCY EVACUATION PROCEDURE  

 The Chair will draw attention to the emergency evacuation procedure as set out 
under Note 6. 

 

3. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND SUBSTITUTIONS  

 

4. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  

 At this point in the meeting declarations of interest are received from Members in any 
of the agenda items under consideration at the meeting. Members are asked to 
indicate: 

(a) The agenda item number in which they have an interest to declare. 

(b) The nature of their interest. 

(c) Whether their interest is a disclosable pecuniary interest or an other interest,   
(as defined in Part 2, A and B of the Code of Conduct and Rules for Registration of 
Interests) 

Any Member who needs to clarify any matters relating to the declaration of interests is 
recommended to seek advice from the Council’s Monitoring Officer or a member of his 
staff before the meeting to expedite dealing with the item during the meeting. 

 

5. TO ANNOUNCE ANY URGENT BUSINESS AGREED BY THE CHAIRMAN  

 

6. ITEMS FROM THE PUBLIC OR COUNCILLORS - TO RECEIVE DEPUTATIONS, 
STATEMENTS, PETITIONS OR QUESTIONS RELATING TO THE BUSINESS OF 
THIS MEETING  

 Penny Hay will address the Panel on the subject of the Child Friendly City. 

 

7. MINUTES - 15TH JULY 2015 (Pages 9 - 20) 

 



8. PRIMARY SCHOOL & YOUNG PEOPLE PARLIAMENTS (Pages 21 - 48) 

 This is the third year the Primary and Young Parliaments have been convened, they 
give children and young people the valuable opportunity to meet and debate a chosen 
theme, present their workshop discussions to the assembly and vote on the 
presentations, the theme chosen for the  Parliaments was ‘Me, Myself, My School’. 

 

9. SCHOOL ADMISSIONS (Pages 49 - 56) 

 This report provides a briefing on the pattern of admissions to Primary and Secondary 
Schools in September 2015. 

 

10. DRAFT SCHOOL IMPROVEMENT AND ACHIEVEMENT POLICY (Pages 57 - 100) 

 This report is for information and provides an update to the Panel on the revised 
School Improvement Policy. 

 

11. NEW SCHOOLS BRIEFING (Pages 101 - 110) 

 The Panel will receive a presentation on this item. 

 

12. CABINET MEMBER UPDATE  

 The Cabinet Member will update the Panel on any relevant issues. Panel members 
may ask questions. 

 

13. PEOPLE AND COMMUNITIES STRATEGIC DIRECTOR'S BRIEFING  

 The Panel will receive a verbal update on this item from the People and Communities 
Strategic Director. 

 

14. PANEL WORKPLAN (Pages 111 - 114) 

 This report presents the latest workplan for the Panel. Any suggestions for further 
items or amendments to the current programme will be logged and scheduled in 
consultation with the Panel’s Chair and supporting officers. 

 
The Committee Administrator for this meeting is Mark Durnford who can be contacted on  
01225 394458. 



This page is intentionally left blank



Bath and North East Somerset Council 

 

 
Page 1 

 

CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE POLICY DEVELOPMENT AND SCRUTINY PANEL 
 

Minutes of the Meeting held 
Wednesday, 15th July, 2015, 9.30 am 

 
Bath and North East Somerset Councillors: Lisa Brett (Chair), Matt Cochrane (Vice-
Chair), Karen Warrington, Peter Turner, Sally Davis, Alison Millar and Liz Hardman 
 
Co-opted Voting Members: David Williams (Diocese of Bath & Wells) 
 
Co-opted Non-voting Members: Chris Batten and Edward Joseph (B&NES Youth 
Parliament) 
 
Officers : Richard Baldwin (Divisional Director, Children & Young People Specialist 
Services), Lesley Hutchinson (Head of Safeguarding and Quality Assurance) and Jackie 
Deas (Deputy Safeguarding Lead for Children and Quality Assurance) 
 
Cabinet Members in attendance: Councillor Michael Evans 

 
1 
  

WELCOME AND INTRODUCTIONS  
 
The Chair welcomed everyone to the meeting. 
  
 

2 
  

EMERGENCY EVACUATION PROCEDURE  
 
The Chair drew attention to the emergency evacuation procedure. 

  
 

3 
  

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND SUBSTITUTIONS  
 
There were none. 
  
 

4 
  

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
Councillor Liz Hardman declared an ‘other’ interest to the Panel as she is a governor 
at The Link (Aspire) School. 
  
 

5 
  

TO ANNOUNCE ANY URGENT BUSINESS AGREED BY THE CHAIRMAN  
 
There was none. 
  
 

6 
  

ITEMS FROM THE PUBLIC OR COUNCILLORS - TO RECEIVE DEPUTATIONS, 
STATEMENTS, PETITIONS OR QUESTIONS RELATING TO THE BUSINESS OF 
THIS MEETING  
 
There were none. 

Agenda Item 7

Page 7



 

 
Page 2 

  
 

7 
  

CABINET MEMBER UPDATE  
 
Councillor Michael Evans, Cabinet Member for Children’s Services addressed the 
Panel. He spoke of how he had visited a number of establishments since embarking 
on his role. 
 
Radstock Children’s Centre Advisory Board - He was encouraged by their positive 
attitude. 
 
First Steps Nursery – He made the visit alongside Ben Howlett MP which he said 
was enlightening.  
 
Youth Parliament – He said it was interesting to see the interaction between the 
young people. 
 
Schools Forum - He was pleased to hear Academy Headteachers looking to work 
collaboratively. 
 
Ensleigh – He viewed plans for the new Primary School and noted that there was no 
drop off area currently, a lack of trees on the site and that the fencing proposed had 
a slight prison feel to it. 
 
NUT / ATL Representatives – He said that this was a positive meeting. 
 
He informed the Panel that the new Primary Schools at Somerdale and Ensleigh 
were due to open in September 2017 and that the competition to sponsor them was 
due to commence soon. 
 
He said that his career had been in teaching, both in this country and Singapore and 
that he had independent school experience. 
 
He said that he was concerned that as a Council and as Councillors we are 
sometimes too reactive. 
 
He said that he would like to introduce some work within schools that encouraged 
the institution of marriage. 
 
He stated that he was opposed to all ability classes and that he would like to see a 
system whereby all pupils were able to given an award for work throughout their 
academic year. 
 
On the matter of Parental Choice / School Autonomy he said that he would like to 
have some performance figures listed within the brochure for Secondary Schools. 
 
He said that he also wanted to have school information easily available to the public, 
including Value Added figures. 
 
He stated that Headteachers should be able to control the hiring and dismissal of 
staff by themselves. 
 

Page 8



 

 
Page 3 

Councillor Liz Hardman offered her congratulations to Councillor Evans on his new 
role. She asked how the Children’s Centres transition funding was being used and 
how had these cuts in services affected staff. 
 
The Divisional Director for Children & Young People, Specialist Services replied that 
the funding had been used so far to hire some staff on short term contracts, enable 
some building adaptations and provide training for staff. 
 
He added that in broad terms it had been acknowledged that it had been a difficult 
time for all parties on this matter, but that now the staff feel comfortable with the 
current situation. 
 
Councillor Liz Hardman said that in terms of equalities she offered a note of caution 
on his proposal to focus on marriage. She added that she was aware of schools 
having their own gifted and talented programmes. 
 
The Cabinet Member for Children’s Services commented that he would like to see 
schools introduce a Physical Fitness Leaving Certificate to encourage children to 
become healthier. 
 
The Chair said that she did not think that services within the Council were solely 
reactive and that the work of the LSCB shows a focus on intervention and that the 
Connecting Families shows that a great deal of prevention work takes place. She 
asked if he had any thoughts on the options paper that had been produced regarding 
Improving Youth & Community Services to the East of Bath. 
 
The Cabinet Member for Children’s Services replied that that project was not being 
advanced at the current time. 
 
Councillor Peter Turner commented that he believed that good communication skills 
are key for employers these days and should be addressed within school. 
 
The Chair thanked the Cabinet Member for his update. 
  
 

8 
  

PEOPLE AND COMMUNITIES STRATEGIC DIRECTOR'S BRIEFING  
 
The Divisional Director Children & Young People, Specialist Services introduced this 
item to the Panel on behalf of the People and Communities Strategic Director.  
 
Stonewall Education Equalities Index 2015 
 
He said that he was pleased to report that Bath and North East Somerset and its 
schools and learning settings had been named as best at tackling homophobic and 
trans-phobic bullying and for celebrating difference and diversity by Stonewall. He 
added that it is critically important that our children and young people are supported 
to be comfortable ‘in their own skin’ and that they accept and value others as their 
equals.   
 
He said that the work in B&NES is very much led by children and young people and 
our schools and learning settings are to be commended for their commitment to both 
the subject and child-young person-centred leadership. 
 

Page 9



 

 
Page 4 

Primary and Pupil Parliaments 
 
The Primary and Pupil Parliaments for 2015 have now been completed. Both events 
were very successful and the outcomes from each event will be reported to you at a 
future meeting and will inform the refresh of the Children’s and Young Peoples’ Plan. 
 
Review of Emotional/Behavioural Services and Alternative Provision 
 
He informed the Panel that a review of these services had begun as a result of 
increasing demand and an increase in levels of emotional distress amongst children. 
He said that permanent exclusions had reached 24 for this academic year and that 
the range of services provided seems unable to meet the complexity and volume of 
need. He stated that the review will be completed in late November and could come 
to the Panel after Christmas. 
 
Attendance 
 
He said that attendance figures had improved over the year and we have worked 
well with secondary schools in particular to ensure that those children educated off-
school site for part or all of the week are well supported.  He added that this attention 
to attendance and high levels of attendance were key attributes of keeping children 
and young people safe as well as attaining educationally. 
 
Disadvantaged Pupils 
 
He explained that lots of work had been undertaken in schools across the Local 
Authority to ensure that our Free School Meals (FSM) eligible children do well. He 
said that we are hopeful that we will see a significant reduction in the attainment 
‘gap’ particularly in GCSE’s and we will be able to report on this later in the year. 
 
Ofsted Inspection 
 
He informed the Panel that the Council did not receive the ‘call’ on 6 July and 
therefore we continue to be vigilant for a visit from 4 September onwards. 
 
The Chair asked if the Council were involved in the Bath University work known as 
‘Attachment Aware’. 
 
The Divisional Director Children & Young People, Specialist Services replied that 
Mike Gorman, the Council’s Headteacher for the Virtual School for Children In Care 
was at the centre of this work and felt sure that the Panel could be given further 
information at a future meeting. 
 
Councillor Sally Davis asked for the Pupil Parliament dates for 2016 to be circulated 
as soon as they were known so that Panel members and other Councillors could 
attend. 
 
Councillor Peter Turner commented that he would be interested in the results of the 
Review of Emotional/Behavioural Services and Alternative Provision.  
 
The Chair thanked the Divisional Director Children & Young People, Specialist 
Services for the update. 
  

Page 10



 

 
Page 5 

 
9 
  

LSCB ANNUAL REPORT & WORK PROGRAMME  
 
Reg Pengelly, the Independent Chair of the Local Safeguarding Children’s Board 
introduced this report to the Panel. He explained that the Board is a multi-agency 
body that monitors and co-ordinates the safeguarding and welfare of children. He 
said that there are also a series of sub-groups that undertake separate work outside 
the main body of the Board. 
 
He said that the Board’s quarterly meetings had been reorganised this year so that 
each meeting had a lead theme. 
 
He stated that Private Fostering had been an area which the LSCB had sought to 
highlight and develop in 2014 - 15. He said that new guidance and advertising 
materials had been produced for distribution to key establishments such as GP 
surgeries and nurseries. He added that during this year the Strategic Director for 
People and Communities had also written to all independent and Language Schools 
in the area to remind them of their responsibilities to self-report any arrangements 
that might constitute Private Fostering with ‘host’ families. 
 
He spoke of how this year has seen the implementation of the Care Act 2014. He 
said that the Act principally improves things for adults but it includes improvements 
for children, especially those with special educational needs and disability. In 
particular, the Care Act places the Safeguarding Adults Board on a similar statutory 
footing to the LSCB. He informed the Panel that he was also now the Chair of the 
LSAB. 
 
We believe that this legislative alignment now presents a unique opportunity to 
explore closer collaboration between both Boards. To that end we have held a joint 
Development Day and are now planning to implement some exciting new 
approaches. Closer collaboration across both Boards should at least strengthen the 
“Think Family” ethos in which professionals consider the wider implications of an 
individuals needs in the context of risk implications for other members of their family. 
 
He stated that he planned to visit all member agencies within the next 12 months to 
discuss further their role within the Board. 
 
He emphasised that early intervention is paramount and said that the impact of 
preventative work is already being seen and must be maintained. 
 
He informed the Panel that the Board had carried out a Schools Safeguarding Audit 
in October 2014. Early analysis of the self-assessments indicated that most schools 
are compliant with safeguarding requirements as detailed in Keeping Children Safe 
in Education (April 2014). However it is important that schools continue to prioritise 
early interventions, follow through with the CAF process, make referrals to the 
Council and prioritise multi-agency training for staff. 
 
He said that the Board were looking to increase the involvement of children & young 
people within its work. 
 
The Chair commented that she welcomed the report and its focus on good 
governance. She did however feel that it lacked in stating any milestones or 

Page 11



 

 
Page 6 

outcomes that it wished to achieve, she also felt the structure was not accessible. 
She asked if the agencies involved sent a high level representative. 
 
Reg Pengelly replied that a senior level representative is required to attend meetings 
of the Board. 
 
Councillor Matt Cochrane asked if the lack of primary and secondary head teachers 
attending the LSCB was a temporary issue or something that the Panel could help 
encourage. 
 
Reg Pengelly replied that the LSCB had recently recruited both a primary and 
secondary head teacher to join the LSCB and they attended the June 2015 meeting. 
 
Chris Batten asked if any further comment could be made regarding the rise in 
Looked After Children as stated on page 13 of the report. 
 
The Divisional Director for Children & Young People, Specialist Services replied that 
a peak can now be seen for young people aged 14 – 16. He added that in some 
cases this had led to early adoption of children. 
 
The Chair said that she welcomed the early interventions focus and asked how first 
referrals were made. 
 
The Divisional Director for Children & Young People, Specialist Services replied that 
the primary source of referrals was via the Common Assessment Framework (CAF). 
He added that last year around 500 CAFs were completed with only 8 – 10% of 
those turning into referrals. He said that most were resolved through early 
intervention. 
 
Reg Pengelly said that with regard to the report structure that Ofsted are quite 
constrictive over this. He added that the intention would be to make subsequent 
reports have more of a focus on what was new and the difference that had been 
made, but that the level of detail in the report set the legal and local context. 
 
The Chair said that she welcomed the fact that Mr Pengelly was now the Chair of 
both the LSCB and LSAB. She asked how many children were living with carers who 
have mental health needs. 
 
The Divisional Director for Children & Young People, Specialist Services replied that 
he believed through data from the JSNA there were around 500 families identified 
with mental health needs, domestic violence or substance abuse. 
 
Reg Pengelly added that a serious case review had not been required in the past 
three years. 
 
Councillor Liz Hardman asked what financial assurances were there that the Board 
could continue to carry out its work. 
 
Reg Pengelly replied that there was an historical under spend within the Board. 
 
The Head of Safeguarding and Quality Assurance added that the risk register that is 
about to be developed will look at the financial arrangements of the Board.  
 

Page 12



 

 
Page 7 

The Chair asked if profile data was available. 
 
The Divisional Director for Children & Young People, Specialist Services replied that 
it is available and has been shared at previous meetings. He added that CSE is at 
the centre of the majority of our work. 
 
The Chair asked if the Board were satisfied that enough support was available to 
victims of CSE. 
 
The Divisional Director for Children & Young People, Specialist Services replied that 
it was and added that the Council has signed up to a Barnados project for 
counselling and support. 
 
The Chair asked if the Board were aware of the IRO concerns with regard to care 
planning arrangements. 
 
Reg Pengelly replied that they were aware. 
 
Councillor Liz Hardman asked if the Panel could see the results of the schools audit 
that was carried out by the Board. 
 
Reg Pengelly replied that he would be happy to share that information with the 
Panel. 
 
The Chair asked if any bodies were not taking up the offer of training and 
development. 
 
Reg Pengelly replied that a Section 11 Audit has taken place and that there is a 
national framework for achieving the correct training. He added that the Board do 
monitor and challenge how training is delivered. He said that the Board also actively 
learn from Serious Case Reviews when they take place across the country. 
 
The Chair asked if the work of the Policy, Procedure and Performance sub-group 
(PPPG) has had a positive impact on the Board. 
 
The Divisional Director for Children & Young People, Specialist Services replied that 
the sub-group has further developed data and performance reporting and scrutiny, to 
support the identification of children and young people who may be at risk of specific 
harm and evidenced the LSCB’s impact and pro-activity. 
 
The Head of Safeguarding and Quality Assurance added that multi-agency audits 
take place to analyse procedures and that the board are looking to gain further 
feedback on this in the future. 
 
The Chair asked how the Council tracks families that we have concerns about. 
 
The Divisional Director for Children & Young People, Specialist Services replied that 
families are not obliged to notify us if they move authorities. He added that this is one 
area where early help work should be advocated. 
 
Councillor Liz Hardman asked how we monitor children who are placed ‘At Distance’. 
 

Page 13



 

 
Page 8 

The Divisional Director for Children & Young People, Specialist Services replied that 
some children are placed in special residential schools and some with relatives who 
live outside the area. 
 
Councillor Alison Millar asked if B&NES remained responsible for those children. 
 
The Divisional Director for Children & Young People, Specialist Services replied that 
they do until any court proceedings are complete. He added that keeping the same 
social worker was key in these cases in spite of some of the distances. 
 
The Chair asked if any further information could be given as to why just under 25% 
of case conferences were not convened in accordance with the procedures. 
 
The Divisional Director for Children & Young People, Specialist Services replied that 
this can be due to school holidays and a judgement is required on what information 
is available. He added that in most cases officers would want to share their report 
with the family before a conference took place. 
 
The Head of Safeguarding and Quality Assurance added that if there are any delay 
to a conference that work with the family would remain ongoing, families are not left 
unsupported.  
 
Councillor Liz Hardman commented that she was pleased to see that the Board was 
monitoring the outcomes for Looked After Children as she was concerned over their 
potential to enter the justice system. She added that she had read recently that 61% 
of girls that had entered the justice system had been in care. 
 
Councillor Alison Millar asked what constitutes a private fostering arrangement. 
 
Reg Pengelly replied that this is when a child is being looked after by somebody 
outside of the family. He added that should this arrangement last longer than 28 
days then it must be registered with the Council. He said that knowledge about the 
duty to register was not widely known. 
 
The Divisional Director for Children & Young People, Specialist Services added that 
leaflets have been issued to schools, nurseries etc. on this matter and an article was 
within this month’s Council Connect magazine.  
 
The Chair concluded the debate by commending the work of the LSCB and thanking 
Reg Pengelly for attending the meeting. 
  
 

10 
  

INDEPENDENT REVIEWING OFFICERS ANNUAL REPORT  
 
The Deputy Safeguarding Lead for Children and Quality Assurance introduced this 
item to the Panel. She explained that the report sought to raise awareness of the 
work of the IRO service as part of the array of services to 
children, young people and families provided by the Council and to provide 
assurance that the Council’s Corporate Parenting responsibilities are reviewed and 
monitored. 
 
She highlighted to the Panel the steady improvement that had been made on the 
timeliness of reviews since 2009/2010 when it was 55%. Figures for 2014 / 15 

Page 14



 

 
Page 9 

showed 96.8% in Quarter 1, 96.4% in Quarter 2, 95.8% in Quarter 3 and 93.3% 
Quarter 4. 
 
She stated that participation and feedback from children and young people was 
strongly encouraged. 
 
Councillor Liz Hardman said that she had noted the increase in the number of BME 
children in care. 
 
The Deputy Safeguarding Lead for Children and Quality Assurance replied that this 
does require further interrogation. 
 
Edward Joseph asked if the recent cuts had had an effect on the number of children 
being placed in care. 
 
The Deputy Safeguarding Lead for Children and Quality Assurance replied that early 
help measures may be part of the reason for the reduction in numbers and this 
would require ongoing scrutiny before knowing if this was a direct cause. 
 
Councillor Matt Cochrane asked whether there were specific reasons that we 
struggle to fill the full roster of IROs and whether the Panel could help fill this quota. 
 
The Deputy Safeguarding Lead for Children and Quality Assurance replied that this 
is an issue throughout the South West as the role requires a great deal of 
experience. 
 
Edward Joseph commented that he was pleased to hear that feedback from children 
was listened to. 
 
The Chair asked for the requirement for IROs to have independent legal advice 
through the Local Authority to be arranged within the next six months. She added 
that she also supported the view stated in paragraph 6.2 of the report regarding the 
Permanence Panel that ‘The IROs will have useful information to contribute to some 
case discussions and would welcome being invited to contribute by whatever means 
are most helpful’. 
 
The Divisional Director for Children, Young People, Specialist Services asked if this 
would be through a physical presence or a mechanism to contribute. 
 
The Chair replied that a mechanism would suffice. She also asked for a review in six 
months’ time of the new challenge process. 
 
Edward Joseph asked how will young people become enabled to feel confident to 
make complaints. 
 
The Deputy Safeguarding Lead for Children and Quality Assurance replied that they 
support all children and young people to complain and are looking to improve how 
children and young people understand what outcomes children want from a 
complaint.  
 
Councillor Liz Hardman asked when more information relating to the BME children in 
care figures could be shared. 
 

Page 15



 

 
Page 10 

The Deputy Safeguarding Lead for Children and Quality Assurance replied that a 6 
monthly update IRO report was due to be completed for the six month period ending 
in September and efforts will be made to address this issue therein September. 
 
Councillor Alison Millar asked to be updated on the number of missing care plans. 
 
The Deputy Safeguarding Lead for Children and Quality Assurance replied that 
progress has been made on this area and all should now be up to date. 
 
The Panel noted the report. 
  
 

11 
  

CARE LEAVERS SUPPORT UPDATE  
 
The Divisional Director for Children, Young People, Specialist Services introduced 
this item to the Panel. He said that B&NES offers a good package of support to its 
young people. 
 
Councillor Liz Hardman asked if the Panel could receive a progress report on NEETs 
in September. 
 
The Divisional Director for Children, Young People, Specialist Services replied that 
the Council was in touch with a high number of young people and that there will 
always be a difficult cohort to work with. He added that the service will always look to 
improve its figures. 
 
Councillor Liz Hardman asked what was meant by the term ‘In touch’. 
 
 The Divisional Director for Children, Young People, Specialist Services replied that it 
was a very broad term and that a range of mechanisms can be used including social 
media. He said that he was aware of one particular case that used text messages a 
great deal. 
 
Councillor Liz Hardman asked what happens regarding the 39% that are not 
accounted for. 
 
The Divisional Director for Children, Young People, Specialist Services replied that 
some young people will declare that they have a job or in receipt of training when 
they are not. 
 
Edward Joseph asked if there was any correlation to be made between the figures 
for young people ‘Not in touch’ and for young people in unsuitable accommodation. 
 
The Divisional Director for Children, Young People, Specialist Services replied that it 
was reasonable to suspect that such a correlation exists. 
 
The Head of Safeguarding and Quality Assurance said that they would look to see if 
any of those figures could be matched up. 
 
 
 
  
 

Page 16



 

 
Page 11 

12 
  

PANEL WORKPLAN  
 
The Divisional Director for Children & Young People, Specialist Services gave a 
presentation to the Panel at the beginning of this item to show the range of work 
areas covered by Children’s Services, a summary is set out below. 
 
Children’s Social Care Services 
Youth Offending Service 
Youth Connect, Connecting Families 
Early Years and Children’s Centres 
Education-related Services 
Commissioning and Planning 
Safeguarding and Quality Assurance 
 
He informed them that 92% of Children in Care attended a good / outstanding 
school. 
 
The Local Picture 
 

• Total young person population of 38,000 (0-19yrs) 

• Child Protection Plans - 123 

• Looked After Children - 141 

• Children in Need - 634 
 
Keeping Children Safe is Everybody’s Business 
 

• Children’s Safeguarding is one of the key duties for Local Authorities.  

• It is high profile. Service failure in this area represents major reputational risk. 

• Local Safeguarding Children’s Board (LSCB). This holds all responsible 
organisations to account for children’s safeguarding. 

 
Current Issues for Children’s Services 
 

• Child Sexual Exploitation and children “missing”  

• Safeguarding Adolescents in the on-line/24-7 world 

• The importance of ‘Early Help’. (Nationally, for every £4 spent on 
safeguarding, only £1 is spent on early help) 

• Ofsted Inspection and its fitness for purpose 

• Partnership working in times of austerity 

• School system planning and coherence 

• SEND Reform – implications 
 
Councillor Karen Warrington asked if the slides could be saved onto the Councillor’s 
dashboard. 
 
The Chair stated that she was hoping to theme future meetings where possible. 
 
Councillor Liz Hardman asked for an update on Children’s Centres prior to May 2016 
as proposed on the workplan. 
 
The Head of Safeguarding and Quality Assurance asked for the Annual Report on 
Children’s Services Compliments and Complaints 2014-15 and Care Bill - 

Page 17



 

 
Page 12 

Implications for Children report to be received by the Panel in either September or 
November 2015. 
 
Councillor Liz Hardman asked the Chair to consider alternating the times of the 
meetings. 
 
The Chair said that she would consider this proposal for future meetings. 
  
 
 
  
 
 

The meeting ended at 12.55 pm  
 

Chair(person)  

 
Date Confirmed and Signed  

 
Prepared by Democratic Services 

 

Page 18



Printed on recycled paper 

 
Bath & North East Somerset Council 

 

MEETING/
DECISION 
MAKER:  

Children and Young People Policy Development & Scrutiny Panel 

MEETING/
DECISION 
DATE:  

15th September 2015 9.30am 

 

EXECUTIVE 
FORWARD PLAN 
REFERENCE: 

 

E  

TITLE: Pupil Parliaments 2015 

WARD: All  

AN OPEN PUBLIC ITEM 

 

List of attachments to this report: 

Primary Parliament Report 2015 

Young Parliament Report 2015 

 
 

1 THE ISSUE 

This is the third year the Primary and Young Parliaments have been convened, they 
give children and young people the valuable opportunity to meet and debate a chosen 
theme, present their workshop discussions to the assembly and vote on the 
presentations, the theme chosen for the  Parliaments was ‘Me, Myself, My School’. 
The Parliaments also provide an opportunity for engagement with a wide range of 
children and young people, helps to inform possible commissioning intentions and 
identify future priorities for the Children and Young People’s Plan (CYPP) 

RECOMMENDATION 

1.1 Proposal 1 To receive and note the reports from the Primary and Young 
Parliaments 2015 held in academic year 2014/2015. 

1.2 Proposal 2  To comment either collectively or individually, on the reports. 

1.3 To note dates of the 2016 Parliaments: 

Young Parliament Thursday 11th Feb 2016,  

Primary Parliament Wednesday June 15th 2016 

 

Agenda Item 8

Page 19



Printed on recycled paper 

RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS (FINANCE, PROPERTY, PEOPLE) 

1.4 There are no financial implications to the Council. There is a small cost to 
running the Parliaments which is met by the participation budget 

2 STATUTORY CONSIDERATIONS AND BASIS FOR PROPOSAL 

2.1 The are no Statutory Considerations in regard to this report, but once again this 
year’s Parliaments gave pupils a unique and valuable opportunity for a range of 
pupils to influence how changes to could made to their school day and their 
curriculum and to share the work undertaken by the e-teams within schools. 

3 THE REPORT 

3.1  

The following priorities for next steps have been identified from the Primary Parliament: 
Key Stage 1 Key Points: 
 

• More opportunities for Year 6 Pupils to work with Key Stage 1 pupils, reading to 

reception, coming into classes  to help, supporting in the playground. 

• Better playtimes. 

 
Key Stage 2 Key Points:  
 

• More outdoor learning opportunities. 

• Pupils and teachers to collaborate more in planning. 

• Pupils to be given and take more responsibility. 

• Introduction of a Traffic Lights system for pupils to mark their work before handing it 

in. Red / Amber / Green to indicate to teachers how well pupils have  understood or 

enjoyed a lesson or activity. 

• To have more opportunity to be active. 

• Accepting yourself for who you are. 

 

The following priorities for next steps have been identified from the Young 

Parliament: 

 

• MYP to visit School Leadership Teams early in the Autumn Term to discuss how 

pupils could be more involved in the running of schools.  

• PSHE to be more reflective of well-being and next steps in life post 16. 

 
4 RATIONALE 

4.1 This report will be presented to the Policy, Development and Scrutiny Panel in 
Sept , Schools Forum and will be circulated to all head teachers.  

5 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED 

5.1 None  

6 CONSULTATION 

Page 20



Printed on recycled paper 

6.1 All workshop leaders, cyp involved in the workshop planning and delivery in 
particular the working group at St Marks School  

 

7 RISK MANAGEMENT 

7.1 A risk assessment related to the issue and recommendations has been 
undertaken, in compliance with the Council's decision making risk management 
guidance. 

Contact person  Sarah McCluskey Sarah_McCluskey@bathnes.gov.uk 01225 
394464 

Kate Murphy Kate_Murphy@bathnes.gov.uk 01225 394502 

Background 
papers 

 

Please contact the report author if you need to access this report in an alternative 
format 

 

Page 21



Page 22

This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
 
 
 
 

Primary School Parliament 2015 
 

Me, Myself, My School 
 

 
 
 
 

Page 23



1 Primary Parliament Report 2015 

 

 
 
 
 

PRIMARY PARLIAMENT June 16th 2015 
 

Me, Myself, My School 
 
 
We had very good representation from schools across B&NES, 34 Infant, Junior and Primary 
schools attended as did one independent school, bringing with them a total of 116 pupils. 
 
The day was hosted by the Chairman of the Council Cllr. Ian Gilchrist.  
 
We had some fantastic introductory presentations from e-teams telling us about their work over 
the last year:- 
 
Bathampton Primary   Anti Bullying and Equalities ( Evie and Cameron) 
Fosseway    Lunchtime Clubs (Jamie and Rose) 
Welton    Values Ambassadors (Matilda, Charlie, Maisie, William) 
 
Following the introductions, one group of Key Stage 1 and three mixed groups of Key Stage 2 
children joined workshops, all linked to the theme of Me, My Self, My School  
 
Workshops 
 
Key Stage 1  
 
Me, Myself, My School 
Workshop Leaders: Alice McColl - Strategic Commissioning Officer, Jo Lewitt - Public Health 
Developing and Commissioning Manager 
 
Key Stage 2 
 
A. Could pupils have more say in what they get taught and how can everyone have an equal say? 
Workshop Leaders: Sarah McCluskey, Strategic Commissioning Officer, Holly Dando Equalities 
Champion Chew Valley School.  Notetaker Dee Chadda 
 
B. How important is the health of the whole pupil? 
Workshop Leaders: Lisa Mukherjee - Participation Development Worker Off the Record, Beccy, 
Mocca, Fiona from B&NES Youth Forum 
 
C. How can pupils help make their schools better places? 
Workshop Leader: Liz Spincer - Saltford Primary.  Notetaker: Hannah Greatorex 
 
After a healthy lunch, each workshop gave its presentation. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 24



2 Primary Parliament Report 2015 

 

 
 

KEY STAGE ONE Presentation 
 
KS1 Pupils drew around themselves and then decorated their pictures. They all thought about 
their school and which aspects they would like to make better or change. They then thought about 
and agreed, which ideas they would like to share with everybody and these became their?.  

 
GOLD IDEAS 

 
Improve outdoor play by:- 
 

� Having a trampoline 

� Planting more trees 

� Learning and making up new games 

� Encouraging everyone to play  

� To care for everyone at playtime 

� Having playground helpers 

� Having a big tent outside for when it’s raining 

� More ‘thinking’ areas outside with plants where you could sit 

� A big pirate ship and pirate days 

� More forest schools 

� A skate park area  

 
 

� Improve the school by:- 
 

� Better school dinners 

� No bullies  

� To show respect to someone at least once a day 

� Everyone could have an iPad 

� More lunchtime clubs 

� More trips out 

� Clearing up litter 

� Have a class pet 

� Planning more lessons outside 

� Have Y6 come and read to reception class 

� School councillors to give ideas in assemblies. 

 

 

  

Page 25



3 Primary Parliament Report 2015 

 

KEY STAGE TWO Presentations 
 

Group A  
Could pupils have more say in what they get taught and how can 
everyone have an equal say? 
 
The pupils worked in small groups to discuss the 5 ‘Tops’ and 5 ‘Pants’ things about their school: 

 
 

5 Tops 
 

� Everyone feels included in my school 
� Being creative 
� Having fun in lessons 
� Helping more 
� Swapping round classes 

 
5 Pants 

 
� Teachers don’t let you plan more, they don’t ask you want you want to learn about your topic 
� Teachers choosing the same people 
� Seats aren’t very comfortable 
� Teachers need to be (more) listening 
� Things aren’t fair and we aren’t told why 

 
 

Workshop A Presentation 
 
Role Play  
 
Teacher and Pupil -  Pupil asking teacher if they can help with more planning of class timetable.  
Teacher agreeing and pupils organising a small group to work with the teacher to help more. 
 
Poster - Ideas that on a Friday afternoon time could be spent with the teacher and whole class 
discussing what has gone well that week and what has not gone so well and why. 
Agree some things to do to make it better for the next week 
 
Traffic Lights Poster 
 
When pupils return their work to their teacher they could mark it themselves before handing it in 
with a red, orange or green star.  
The teacher would then know how much the pupils learnt or enjoyed the lesson / activity. 
 
Red - They didn’t really get it or understand what they were being asked to do 
 
Amber - They understood, but didn’t enjoy it 
 
Green – They totally understood and really enjoyed it 
 
  

Page 26



4 Primary Parliament Report 2015 

 

 
Possibilities 
 
The group explained about the benefits to be had to teachers and pupils when they work together. 
 
 
Teacher Possibilities 
 

� It will make for fair learning 

� Make learning more enjoyable to teach 

� Make work easier to plan 

� Have more idea about what pupils want 

� Knowing how pupils feel 

� Pupils would have to have more responsibility 

� Helps pupils develop more maturity 

� Enable good decision making for pupils and teachers 

� Help with understanding of pupils and teacher directions 

� Gives children and teachers chance to collaborate 

 
 

� Pupil Possibilities 
 

� Children will be more confident 

� Makes work more creative 

� Helps you understand your learning more 

� Gives pupils a say in their learning  

� We think it’s a good idea to help the teachers more because you can make the lessons 

more fun but still educational 

� It’s good to be let free 

 
 

  

Page 27



5 Primary Parliament Report 2015 

 

0

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

Talking

About Your

Feelings

Keeping

Active

Eating Well Drinking

Sensibly

Keeping in

Touch

Asking for

Help

Taking

Breaks

Doing

things

you're good

at

Accepting

Who You

Are

Caring for

Others

Ballot Result

Group B  
How important is the health of the whole pupil? 
 

Workshop consisted of: 

� Icebreaker – pass the smile 

� Line activity  

� Where do you stand?  

� Ballot vote  

� Poster making/presentation practice  

 
Workshop attended by 20 Key Stage 2 Primary Children from schools across B&NES. 

Workshop Feedback 

 

 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Report by Mocca Arapé member of Youth Forum who helped with the workshop 
Primary parliament was a very interesting experience for all involved. I think it was good for the 
young people to be able to work with opposing views to theirs and argue their points (such as in 
the ‘Where do you stand?’ activity).  
 
Also, the day helped their presentation skills having to stand up in front of a large crowd. I found it 
very exciting working with children who are building their skills to become more articulate and who 
are a younger age group. I think the day helped my workshop skills, having to support a group of 
younger people.  
 
All in all, it was a very beneficial experience for everybody who took part.  

 
 

Page 28



6 Primary Parliament Report 2015 

 

Workshop B Presentation  
 
Keeping Active –  Role Play 

 
Lazy v Sporty - being active is much more fun. 
Sport that you enjoy makes you feel better about yourself and your whole body. 

 
Doing things you are good at enjoy 
  
Exercise keeps your heart and mind healthy and you are less likely to develop issues. 
Everybody is good at something 
Recognise that we all have skills to share and can help each other 
 

Accepting who you are  
 
Do your best and believe in yourself, think positive, no-one is perfect and always do what you 
enjoy. Good friends are important. We are all different.  

 

 
 
Group C 
How can pupils make their schools better places? 
 
 
The pupils worked in small groups to discuss the 5 ‘Tops’ and 5 ‘Pants’ things about their school 

 
 

5 Tops 
 

� Outdoor learning 
� Making lessons more entertaining 
� Letting pupils choose more of the topics 
� More support in the classroom 
� Peer teaching between pupils 

 
 
 
5 Pants 

 
� More explanation about why you can’t do something 
� Noise in class 
� Not enough places to be quiet in 
� Equipment sometimes not good 
� Dinners not good and having different lunch times 

 

 
 
  

Page 29



7 Primary Parliament Report 2015 

 

Workshop C Presentation 
 

B.E.T.T.E.R 
 

B 

 
Buddies - link with other year groups 

Better dinners 
Bully boxes 

Budgets - help with fundraising 
 

E 

 
Entertain - important students have fun, so they learn more 
Explain - teachers need to explain why the rules are there 

Environment - do more outdoor learning 
Equipment- Important that equipment is good 

 

T 

 
Times in the day -  Lunchtimes, playtimes being kind to each other, 

at the end of the day time to chat 
Tidy - Tidy environment don’t litter 

Take responsibility 

 

T 

 
Topics - Pupils should choose sometimes 
Thinking Spaces - outdoor thinking garden 

 

E 

 
Events for charity - fundraising 
Exciting days - Pupils to plan 

Equality - for all 

 

R 

 
Raise money - good for good ideas 
Relationships - keep them positive 

 

 
 

Plenary 
 

Ashley Ayre thanked everyone for their hard work and fantastic presentations.  
There was no vote taken as there was a fire alarm and we had to evacuate the Guildhall. The 
pupils all acted sensibly and were a credit to their schools. Although no vote took place, all the 
presentations had equal value and the ideas expressed will be taken forward. 
 
The Mayor Cllr. William Sandry gave the final address in which he spoke about himself and the 
fact he was bullied at school and how this had affected him. He acknowledged that it is very 
important that bullying is tackled at school and to accept yourself.  
 
 

 

Page 30



8 Primary Parliament Report 2015 

 

 
 
 

Next Steps for schools during 2015 - 2016 
 
 
 
 
 
Key Stage 1 Key Points: 
 

� More opportunities for Year 6 Pupils to work with Key Stage 1 pupils, reading to reception, 

coming into classes  to help, supporting in the playground. 

� Better playtimes. 

 
 
Key Stage 2 Key Points:  
 

� More outdoor learning opportunities. 

� Pupils and teachers to collaborate more in planning. 

� Pupils to be given and take more responsibility. 

� Introduction of a Traffic Lights system for pupils to mark their work before handing it in. Red 

/ Amber / Green to indicate to teachers how well pupils have  understood or enjoyed a 

lesson or activity. 

� To have more opportunity to be active. 

� Accepting yourself for who you are. 

 
 
 
This report will be presented to the Policy, Development and Scrutiny Panel in Sept, Schools 
Forum and will be circulated to all schools in Sept 2015.  
 
 
 
Thank you to all pupils, teachers, helpers, and to everyone who attended and contributed to this 
very enjoyable and successful event. We look forward to welcoming you back in 2016. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 31



9 Primary Parliament Report 2015 

 

Schools in attendance 
 

1. Academy of Trinity  

2. Bathampton Primary 

3. Bathford C of E Primary 

4. Bathwick St Mary,  

5. Castle Primary 

6. Chandag Juniors  

7. Farrington Gurney CofE E Primary  

8. Fosseway School  

9. Freshford C of E Primary  

10. King Edwards Juniors  

11. Longvernal Primary  

12. Marksbury C of E Primary  

13. Newbridge Primary  

14. Oldfield Park Infants  

15. Paulton Infants  

16. Paulton  Juniors  

17. Peasedown St John Primary  

18. St John’s 

19. St Keyna  

20. St Martin’s Garden Primary  

21. St Mary’s CofE E Writhlington  

22. St Nicholas C of E Primary 

23. St Saviours Infants 

24. St Saviours Junior 

25. St Stephens C of E Primary 

26. Saltford C of E Primary  

27. Swainswick C of E Primary  

28. Threeways School  

29. Welton Primary  

30. Westfield Primary  

31. Weston All Saints C of E Primary  

32. Whitchurch Primary 

33. Widcombe Infants  

34. Widcombe C of E Primary 

 
Other attendees 
 

MC - Chairman of the Council, Cllr Ian Gilchrist 

Leader of the Council, Cllr Tim Warren 

Mayor of Bath, Cllr William Sandry 

Strategic Director People and Communities, Ashley Ayre  

Director Children and Young People - Strategy and Commissioning – Mike Bowden 
Director of Public Health- Bruce Lawrence 

Page 32



10 Primary Parliament Report 2015 

 

 

 

Next Primary Parliament - Spring 2016 (TBC) 

Page 33



Page 34

This page is intentionally left blank



1 Error! No text of specified style in document. | Bath and North East 
Somerset Council 

 

 
 
 

 
 

Young Parliament 2015 
 

St Mark’s School 

 
 

 

Me, Myself, My School 
 
 
 
  

Page 35



 
 

2 Young Parliament Report 2015 

 

 

YOUNG PARLIAMENT June 25th 2015  

Me, Myself, My School 

 

This was the 3rd Young parliament to be held in B&NES and for this year’s event St 

Mark’s School, Bath was chosen as the host school. There was a core group of 

pupils from St Mark’s, who under the direction of Ms Stella Pakeman, Student 

Leadership, helped with the coordination and running of the day. Sarah McCluskey, 

Strategic Commissioning Officer and Claire Gueye, Personal Assistant spent time in 

the weeks leading up to the Parliament, planning the event with the team from St 

Mark’s and the workshop leaders.  

Following a short spiritual reflection, an opening address was given by St Mark’s 

Head Teacher, Mr. Ash and then Ed Joseph, member of the Youth Parliament gave 

an inspired speech about democracy and his role as a member of the National Youth 

Parliament and the local Youth Forum. 

Over 11 schools and 55 pupils then came together to debate and participate in four 

themed workshops under the generic theme of Me, Myself, My School.  

Four separate workshops were run by students in collaboration with an adult leader.  

Young people vigorously debated their selected theme within their workshop, in 

order to produce a compelling presentation for the whole parliament to vote on.  

Workshops  

A. Curriculum for Life 
Lisa Mukherjee – Participation Project worker, Ed Joseph MYP, Beccy  
 
B. Preparing for the Next Steps 
Jamie Luck – Project Director Mentoring Plus, Sam Maggs, Steve Gogulein, Steve 
Newcombe University of Bath (Widening Participation) 
 
C. Ways to Well Being, Mind, Body and Soul 
Barry Grimes – Your care, Your Way, Dee Chaddha – Strategic Planning Office, St 
Mark’s Pupils - Moyra, Billy, Maria, Donna 
 
D. Power to the Pupils - how far should pupils be involved in the running of the 
school?   
Kate Murphy PSHE lead, Holly Dando, Equalities Champion, Chew Valley School, St 
Mark’s Pupils - Freddie, Kiera 

 

 

Page 36



 
 

3 Young Parliament Report 2015 

 

 

 

 

 

What Young People said on the day...? 

 

“We need broader PSHE lessons; we need people from outside to come and 

talk to us about real jobs”. 

 

“There needs to be change in the way the curriculum is planned - by helping to 

change your curriculum, you can change your life. GCSE’s need to be 

changed”. 

 

“There needs to be a change in the way we are taught. Not everyone can learn 

in the same way”. 

 

Page 37



 
 

4 Young Parliament Report 2015 

 

 

Workshop A 
Curriculum for Life 

Report written by Ed Joseph MYP & Lisa Mukherjee, Participation Development 

worker at Off the Record 

We focused on PSHE because at the time, there was no statutory curriculum and 

thus the young people’s say would be more meaningful because there is a chance of 

them helping shape the curriculum. The young people’s ideas are being used to 

inform the B&NES Youth Forum Curriculum for Life campaign. B&NES Youth Forum 

and the Senior in Care Council (SICC) will be inviting Kate Murphy, Council PSHE 

lead to a meeting to inform her of what young people want. Furthermore, Ed Joseph, 

Member of Youth Parliament will be taking this forward with head teachers also. 

We would also like to highlight that the Norton Hill PSHE teacher was present and 

actively involved with the debate and discussion at our workshop - having an 

invaluable contribution and allowing the young people to see both sides of the coin, 

as well as her being able to hear what was important to the young people. The 

young people were informed about the PSHE CPD course funded by Public Health, 

which teachers can take part in to improve their practise and have been asked to 

promote it at their school. 

Below are all of the topics which young people felt should be in a curriculum for life.  

The top three topics chosen and which formed the content of the presentation are 

highlighted in bold: 

• First Aid e.g. Knowing how to help someone in an emergency, when to dial 

999 and the recovery position 

• Politics e.g. Getting young people involved, engaged and educated. 

• Mental Health e.g. Knowing different disorders, challenging stigma and 

understanding which services to access and when. 

These were the topics which young people felt should also be considered for 

discussions in PSHE: 

• Finance skills including how to apply for a mortgage and managing pensions 

• Careers Advice / Further Education Advice 

• Sexual Health and healthy relationship education 

• Sustainable Living / Independent living e.g. knowing how to cook 

• Citizenship e.g. giving to the community 

 

 

Page 38



 
 

5 Young Parliament Report 2015 

 

 

Workshop B 
Next Steps - Does school and college prepare us all for 

what we want to do when we leave? 

 

 
POSITIVES OF SCHOOL 

 

 
NEGATIVES OF SCHOOL 

Free education Inappropriate curriculum 

Equality Not modern 

Freedom Irrelevant 

Safety 
Designed by wrong people - government 

out of touch with schools 

Balance Sexist 

Work and Life Too much push for University 

Encourages social life Competitive (grades) 

Careers Wrong skills 

PSHE Not enough options 

 
CONCLUSIONS 

 
More appropriate ideas and a curriculum which prepares you for life to include: 
 

• Much more guidance 

• More useful PSHE on life skills rather than sex and relationships 

• Better careers guidance 

• More people from outside to talk to us about real jobs 

• How do we prepare to pay bills or pay rent 

• How much will it really cost at Uni 

• More choices about sports and arts jobs 

• More information about politics and what is happening in the world 

• More vocational choices - not everyone can do exams well 

• Better access and lower costs for young people wanting to access facilities 

e.g. swimming pools, community spaces  

 

 

 

 

Page 39



 
 

6 Young Parliament Report 2015 

 

 

 

Workshop B Presentation 

Students talked about themselves and what they need, working in pairs and talking 

about each other’s needs and aspirations – values and importance of individuals  

School does a good job overall in preparing young people academically, but it 

doesn’t allow time for wider discussions about life skills. 

Too much push from Year 10 onwards for University. There needs to be thought 

given to apprenticeships, internships, volunteering, opportunities abroad post 18. 

Many factors outside school / college influence and impact on young people, schools 

need to take this into account more. 

Young people don’t know enough about how they can influence politicians. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 40



 
 

7 Young Parliament Report 2015 

 

 

Workshop C 
Ways to Wellbeing – Mind, Body and Soul 
 

The workshop identified main priorities for the Presentation 

� Anxiety and worry 
� Healthy eating 
� Exercise 
� Body image 
� Access to services 

 
 

Workshop C Presentation  

Anxiety and Worry - There needs to be: 
 

� More education around self-harm 
� Young people to share experience of mental health 
� PSHE to focus more on mental health 

 

Healthy eating - There needs to be: 
 

� Price of healthy food cheaper 
� Make posters promoting healthy food 
� Make healthy food more attractive 

 
Exercise - There needs to be: 
 

� More positive media presentation 
� Less age restrictions on gym equipment 
� Fitness videos available to students 

 
Body image - There needs to be: 
 

� More out of school opportunities (youth clubs) 
� More education about body image – PSHE 
� More money to schools for out of school clubs 

 
Access to services - There needs to be: 

� More youth and sports clubs in and out of school 
� Facilities to be promoted more widely 
� More support / praise for well-behaved children 

 
 

Page 41



 
 

8 Young Parliament Report 2015 

 

 

Wellbeing 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

S
p

ir
it

u
a

l 
h

e
lp

 &
 

su
p

p
o

rt
 

Other therapy 

Y
o

u
th

 c
lu

b
s 

Helplines 

(childlines) 

Page 42



 
 

9 Young Parliament Report 2015 

 

Workshop D Power to the Pupils  
 

“How can pupils be more involved in the running of the school?” 

Organisation  

� Pupils to attend staff meetings / part of leadership team meetings to raise 
issues and get feedback about what has happened as a result  

� Student are on interview panels for recruitment of staff , are able to choose 
questions and receive training to do this  

� A system is in place for pupils to be involved in the review / assessment of 
staff  

 

Equalities  

� All pupils should have the opportunity to be involved in leadership / school 
council activities (including younger pupils and “naughty pupils” ) 

� Pupils should be involved in helping stamp out racism, homophobia etc. 
 

Extra-Curricular Activities  

� Pupils should have a say in the types of  trips, clubs, activities being offered  
 

Curriculum 

� Pupils should  be more involved in planning , development and delivery of 
lessons  

� Staff should outline the relevance of topics to life outside school  
� More lessons on financial education (bills, taxes)  
� More outdoor education  

 

Workshop D Presentation 

� The curriculum needs a broader skills base  
� Pupils need to be more involved in the recruitment and ongoing assessment 

of staff 
� Pupils should be able to attend staff meetings  
� More extra-curricular activities  
� Better use of school facilities 
� Look at streaming some classes as some pupils really struggle 

 

 

 

Page 43



 
 

10 Young Parliament Report 2015 

 

 

 

 
EQUALITY IS LIKE CAKE!!! 

 

 
Not everyone gets the same size piece - Some people do not get the 
same opportunities. 
 
Some people get the decorations - Some people get perks or can easily 
get things others can’t. 
 
Birthday person always gets the first slice - Some people get priorities to 
certain opportunities. Sometimes favouritism takes place. 
 

 
Everyone likes cake but not everyone gets a fair slice!!! 

 

 
 

Voting 

Following the presentations, delegates were asked to cast their votes to select 

the presentation that had the most impact on them. The workshop ‘Power to 

the Pupils’ received the highest number of votes. 

 

 

 

Plenary 

Page 44



 
 

11 Young Parliament Report 2015 

 

Mike Bowden gave his thanks to everyone for their contributions to the day and for 

the range, depth and content of the presentations. In particular he highlighted the 

importance of Wellbeing and how we all needed to be aware of how we and others 

are feeling. The chairman also gave his overview of the presentations and reflected 

on how politics impacts on us all. The final address was given by Freddie – a St 

Mark’s Pupil. 

Next Steps for schools during 2015 - 2016 

� Ed Joseph to visit School Leadership Teams early in the Autumn Term to 

discuss how pupils could be more involved in the running of schools.  

� PSHE to be more reflective of next steps in life post 16 and well-being. 

� This report will be presented to the Policy, Development and Scrutiny Panel 

(in September), Schools Forum and will be circulated to all schools.  

 
Grateful thanks to St Mark’s’ School for their excellent hosting of the day and in 

particular, Ms Stella Pakeman - Student Leadership. Additional thanks to all pupils, 

teachers, helpers, and to everyone who attended and contributed to this very 

enjoyable and successful event.  

We look forward to welcoming you back in 2016 to the next Young Parliament. 

 

 

 

  

Page 45



 
 

12 Young Parliament Report 2015 

 

Schools in Attendance 

1. Chew Valley School 

2. Three Ways School 

3. Fosseway School 

4. Writhlington School 

5. Prior Park School 

6. Oldfield Academy 

7. St Mark’s School 

8. Norton Hill School 

9. Broadlands School 

10. St Gregory’s School 

11. Wellsway School 

 

Other Attendees 

Chairman of the Council - Cllr Ian Gilchrist 

Deputy Chairman of the Council - Cllr Martin veal 

Leader of the Council - Cllr Tim Warren 

Lead Member for Children’s Services - Cllr Michael Evans 

Director Children and Young People, Strategy and Commissioning - Mike Bowden 

Senior Commissioning Manager, Specialist Services - Mary Kearney-Knowles 

MC for the afternoon - Shyam Sawhney- Equalities Champion Norton Hill School  

 
 

 
 

 

Page 46



Printed on recycled paper 

 

Bath & North East Somerset Council 
 

MEETING/
DECISION 
MAKER: 

 

Children and Young People Policy Development & Scrutiny Panel 

MEETING/
DECISION 
DATE: 

15 September 2015 

 

EXECUTIVE FORWARD 

PLAN REFERENCE: 

  

TITLE: School Admissions – September 2015 

WARD: All  

AN OPEN PUBLIC ITEM  

List of attachments to this report: 

Appendix A – Primary School Admissions September 2015 

Appendix B – Secondary School Admissions September 2015 

 

 
 

 
1 THE ISSUE 

1.1 To provide a briefing on the pattern of admissions to Primary and Secondary Schools in 
September 2015. 

2 RECOMMENDATION 

The Children and Young People Policy Development and Scrutiny Panel is asked to: 

2.1 Consider and note the pattern of admissions to Primary and Secondary Schools in 
September 2015. 

3 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS (FINANCE, PROPERTY, PEOPLE) 

3.1 None 

4 STATUTORY CONSIDERATIONS AND BASIS FOR PROPOSAL 

4.1 The School Admissions Code is issued under Section 84 of the School Standards 
and Framework Act 1998. 

4.2 The code specifies for applications in the normal admissions round, local authorities 
must provide a common application form  that enables parents to express their 
preference to their home authority for a place at any state funded school, with a 
minimum of 3 preferences in rank order, allowing them to give reasons for their 
preferences.  

Agenda Item 9

Page 47



Printed on recycled paper 

4.3 The Local Authority has a statutory duty to make an offer of a place to each child on the 
national offer date for Primary and Secondary Schools. 

5 THE REPORT 

Primary Admissions 

5.1 The closing date for September 2015 primary admissions was the 16th January 2015. The 
offer date was the 16th April 2015. Appendix A shows the individual details for each 
school. 

5.2 A total of 88% of Bath and North East Somerset children were offered their 1st preference 
school compared to 92.83% in September 2014. However a total of 98% of Bath and 
North East Somerset children were offered one of their overall preferences. 

5.3 Following the initial allocations further rounds of allocations have taken place and appeals 
have been heard. The updated position at each school is shown in the final columns in 
Appendix A. 

Secondary Admissions 

5.4 The closing date for September 2015 secondary admissions was the 31st October 2014. 
The offer date was the 2nd March 2015. Appendix B shows the individual total for each 
school. 

5.5 A total of 95% of Bath and North East Somerset children were offered their 1st 
preference school compared to 93.62% in September 2014. However a total of 99% of 
Bath and North East Somerset children were offered one of their overall preferences. 

5.6 Following the initial allocations further rounds of allocations have taken place and appeals 
have been heard. The updated position at each school is shown in the final columns in 
Appendix B. 

6 CONSULTATION 

6.1 Staff; Section 151 Finance Officer; Monitoring Officer 

 

 

Contact person  Kevin_Amos@bathnes.gov.uk Tel 01225395202 

Background 
papers 

. 

Please contact the report author if you need to access this report in an 
alternative format 

 

Page 48



APPENDIX A               

School 1st 
Prefs 

2nd 
Prefs 

3rd 
Prefs 

Total PAN Offers 
1st 

Offers 
2nd 

Offers 
3rd 

Referrals Total 
Offers 

Refusals Remaining 
Places 

No's Now 
Expected 
Sept 2015 

Remaining 
Places 

Academy of Trinity 27 12 4 43 30 27 3 0 0 30 0 0 30 0 

Bathampton Primary  43 37 42 122 30 30 0 0 0 30 23 0 32 -2 

Batheaston Primary  41 27 21 89 30 30 0 0 0 30 17 0 31 -1 

Bathford C. of E. Primary  18 24 14 56 35 18 7 4 6 35 0 0 33 2 

Bathwick St. Mary C. of E. 

Primary  

37 32 19 88 30 30 0 0 0 30 12 0 30 0 

Bishop Sutton Primary  16 21 10 47 25 16 1 0 1 18 0 7 19 6 

Cameley Primary  13 7 2 22 20 13 0 0 0 13 0 7 14 6 

Camerton Church School 6 4 12 22 10 7 0 0 1 8 0 2 6 4 

Castle Primary  50 21 17 88 60 50 1 1 0 52 0 8 60 0 

Chandag Infant  80 44 15 139 60 60 0 0 0 60 21 0 61 -1 

Chew Magna Primary  11 18 14 43 15 11 1 0 0 12 0 3 15 0 

Chew Stoke C. of E. 

Primary  

31 15 12 58 27 27 0 0 0 27 4 0 27 0 

Clutton Primary  18 6 7 31 25 18 0 0 0 18 0 7 20 5 

Combe Down C. of E. 

Primary  

58 27 24 109 60 57 3 0 0 60 2 0 60 0 

East Harptree C. of E. 

Primary  

14 10 6 30 15 14 1 0 0 15 0 0 13 2 

Farmborough C. of E. 

Primary  

17 15 8 40 20 17 1 0 0 18 0 2 18 2 

Farrington Gurney C. of E. 

Primary  

15 8 6 29 15 15 0 0 0 15 0 0 15 0 

Freshford C. of E. Primary  21 11 7 39 22 21 1 0 0 22 0 0 22 0 

High Littleton C. of E. 

Primary  

20 17 6 43 20 20 0 0 0 20 0 0 20 0 

Longvernal Primary  11 4 6 21 25 11 0 0 4 15 0 10 15 10 

Marksbury C. of E. 

Primary  

9 11 8 28 15 9 0 0 0 9 0 6 10 5 

P
age 49



Midsomer Norton 

Primary  

44 28 12 84 45 43 1 1 0 45 4 0 47 -2 

Moorlands Infant  44 34 24 102 60 44 7 1 7 59 0 1 60 0 

Newbridge Primary  55 81 32 168 60 54 3 3 0 60 1 0 60 0 

Oldfield Park Infant  70 50 50 170 60 55 4 1 0 60 15 0 60 0 

Paulton Infant  72 10 11 93 90 72 4 1 0 77 0 13 72 18 

Peasedown St. John 

Primary  

79 4 6 89 75 75 0 0 0 75 4 0 75 0 

Pensford Primary  8 2 3 13 15 8 0 1 0 9 0 6 11 4 

Saltford C. of E. Primary  48 22 23 93 60 48 6 0 1 55 0 5 58 2 

Shoscombe C. of E. 

Primary  

17 20 5 42 20 17 0 0 3 20 0 0 19 1 

Roundhill Primary 29 10 7 46 60 29 2 0 1 32 0 28 38 22 

St. Andrew's C. of E. 

Primary  

28 10 11 49 30 26 3 1 0 30 2 0 30 0 

St. John's Catholic 

Primary  

47 25 13 85 45 41 3 1 0 45 10 0 45 0 

St. John's C. of E. Primary 

(Keynsham)  

50 61 25 136 60 49 11 0 0 60 2 0 60 0 

St. John's C. of E. Primary 

(MSN)  

66 25 12 103 60 59 1 0 0 60 7 0 60 0 

St. Julian's C. of E. Primary  21 12 3 36 22 20 1 0 0 21 0 1 19 3 

St. Keyna Primary  22 7 11 40 30 22 0 0 2 24 0 6 24 6 

St. Martins Garden 

Primary  

33 18 2 53 45 33 3 0 5 41 0 4 42 3 

St. Mary's Catholic 

Primary  

36 21 27 84 30 30 0 0 0 30 6 0 30 0 

St. Mary's C. of E. Primary 

(Timsbury)  

25 6 6 37 30 25 1 0 1 27 0 3 26 4 

St. Mary's C. of E. Primary 

(Writhlington)  

17 3 1 21 25 17 0 0 0 17 0 8 18 7 

St. Nicholas' C. of E. 26 14 6 46 40 26 4 1 0 31 0 9 32 8 

P
age 50



Primary  

St. Philip's C. of E. Primary  36 26 21 83 40 36 3 1 0 40 1 0 39 1 

St. Saviour's C. of E. Infant  61 26 25 112 60 55 2 3 0 60 8 0 60 0 

St. Stephen's C. of E. 

Primary  

51 35 22 108 60 51 7 2 0 60 0 0 59 1 

Stanton Drew Primary  10 3 2 15 10 10 0 0 0 10 0 0 10 0 

Swainswick C. of E. 

Primary  

14 18 13 45 14 12 1 1 0 14 5 0 14 0 

Twerton Infant  28 8 3 39 60 28 1 0 2 31 0 29 40 20 

Ubley C. of E. Primary  16 6 6 28 16 15 1 0 0 16 2 0 15 0 

Welton Primary  40 22 9 71 28 27 1 0 0 28 16 0 30 -2 

Westfield Primary  36 9 8 53 60 36 4 0 3 43 0 17 52 8 

Weston All Saints C. of E. 

Primary  

95 36 15 146 90 89 1 0 0 90 7 0 90 0 

Whitchurch Primary  31 34 27 92 30 28 2 0 0 30 6 0 30 0 

Widcombe Infant  81 74 24 179 60 58 2 0 0 60 28 0 60 0 

Sub Total 1892 1131 725 3748 2079 1739 98 23 37 1897 203 182 1936 150 

Other LA School 59 37 20   45 5 1   17    

Total 1951 1168 745 3864  1784 103 24  1897 220    

               

               

 

P
age 51



P
age 52

T
his page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX B               

School 1st 
Prefs 

2nd 
Prefs 

3rd 
Prefs 

Total PAN Offers 
1st 

Offers 
2nd 

Offers 
3rd 

Referrals Total 
Offers 

Refusals Remaining 
Places 

No's 
Expected 
September 
2015 

Remaining 
Places 

Bath Community 

Academy 

48 21 16 85 120 48 3 0 13 64 0 56 61 59 

Beechen Cliff  217 114 33 364 175 167 8 0 0 175 57 0 178 -3 

Beechen Cliff 

(Boarding) 

0 0 0 0 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 4 2 2 

Broadlands  65 89 30 184 217 65 11 2 2 80 0 137 93 124 

Chew Valley  205 66 40 311 196 191 5 0 0 196 16 0 200 -4 

Hayesfield Girls'  212 105 35 352 210 202 6 2 0 210 14 0 190 20 

Norton Hill  267 110 5 382 280 267 3 0 0 270 0 10 277 3 

Oldfield  178 138 106 422 224 178 29 11 1 219 0 5 220 4 

Ralph Allen  208 247 69 524 224 184 24 2 0 210 33 14 217 7 

St. Gregory's 

Catholic College  

182 101 56 339 160 157 3 0 0 160 30 0 160 0 

St. Mark's C. of E.  33 16 25 74 102 33 2 1 4 40 0 62 44 58 

Somervale  60 55 22 137 141 60 1 0 2 63 0 78 63 78 

Wellsway  233 103 68 404 230 224 5 1 0 230 14 0 230 0 

Writhlington  214 46 27 287 245 214 2 1 2 219 0 26 223 22 

Sub Total 2122 1211 532 3865 0 1990 102 20 24 2136 164 392 2158 367 

Other LA School 17 33 10 60 0 13 3 0  16 7 0  0 

Total 2139 1244 542 3925  2003 105 20 24 2152 171 392   

               

               

 

P
age 53



P
age 54

T
his page is intentionally left blank



Printed on recycled paper 

 

Bath & North East Somerset Council 
 

MEETING/
DECISION 
MAKER:  

 

Children & Young People Policy Development & Scrutiny Panel 

 

MEETING/
DECISION 
DATE:  

15 September 2015 

EXECUTIVE FORWARD 

PLAN REFERENCE: 

 

E  

TITLE: The Local Authority School Improvement Policy 

WARD: All  

AN OPEN PUBLIC ITEM 

 

List of attachments to this report: 

School Improvement Policy 2015 

 
 

1 THE ISSUE 

1.1 It is a requirement that all local authorities set out in policy how they fulfil their 
statutory functions in relation to supporting school improvement. This report is for 
information and provides an update to the Panel on the revised School 
Improvement Policy. 

2 RECOMMENDATION 

2.1 None 

3 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS (FINANCE, PROPERTY, PEOPLE) 

3.1 None 

4 STATUTORY CONSIDERATIONS AND BASIS FOR PROPOSAL 

4.1 None 

5 THE REPORT 

5.1 All Local Authorities are subject to Ofsted Inspection of their School 
Improvement functions. A School Improvement Policy was in place and revised 
in 2013. Following new guidance issued by Ofsted in November 2014 on how it 

Agenda Item 10

Page 55



Printed on recycled paper 

will conduct the inspection of Local Authority’s carries out its statutory function 
for school improvement, it was necessary to revise our policy to meet these new 
requirements.  Officers have consulted with key partners to raise awareness of 
the new requirements and ensure that the revised policy is compliant. 

6 RATIONALE 

6.1 None 

7 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED 

7.1 None  

8 CONSULTATION 

8.1 Consultation has taken place with head teachers, chairs of governors, the 
Diocese of Bath and Wells, the Diocese of Clifton, The Partnership Teaching 
School, members of the Senior Leadership Team in the People and 
Communities Directorate and JCC. 

9 RISK MANAGEMENT 

9.1 A risk assessment related to the issue and recommendations has been 
undertaken, in compliance with the Council's decision making risk management 
guidance. 

 

Contact person  Margaret Simmons-Bird, Head of Education Improvement 

01225 394240 

Background 
papers 

List here any background papers not included with this report, 
and where/how they are available for inspection. 

Please contact the report author if you need to access this report in an 
alternative format 

 

Page 56



 

2015 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

           

Page 57



 

3 
 

 
School Improvement Policy  
 

Bath and North East Somerset Council  

 

1. Rationale 
This policy establishes the Local Authority’s (LA’s) strategic direction and framework 
for school improvement and its role in championing education excellence for children, 
young people and their families.  It recognises that schools’ are responsible for their 
own self-improvement and performance and for securing the best possible outcomes 
including the safeguarding and well being of their pupils.  The policy aims to capture 
the spirit of partnership, recognises the autonomy and diversity of schools in a rapidly 
changing educational climate and acknowledges schools responsibility for their own 
improvement.   
 
1. 2 Principles  
 
� every child is unique and has the right to grow and develop, personally, 
emotionally and intellectually 

� all schools become great and work in partnership with other schools and settings 
to enable each child and young person to achieve their full potential and 
experience success 

� the accountability for school improvement rests with autonomous and self-
improving schools 

� identified schools will be challenged and supported through access to best 
practice within and beyond the Local Authority (LA).  This includes Partner 
Teaching Schools, National Leaders of Education (NLEs), Local Leaders for 
Education (LLEs), Specialist Leaders for Education (SLEs) and School-to-School 
Support  

� improvement is secured through high quality leadership, learning and teaching in 
schools 

� successful schools are inclusive schools, which personalise learning experiences 
through enriched and engaging learning opportunities 

� improving outcomes for all children can best be achieved by schools working 
collaboratively and inclusively, in partnerships with a range of providers 

� schools are encouraged to celebrate success and innovation, which enables all 
children and young people to become successful learners, confident individuals 
and responsible citizens.  

 
1.3  Outcomes  
� improved outcomes for all groups of learners particularly those at risk of 
underachieving as measured by national benchmarks 

� narrow the achievement gap for disadvantaged learners from low-income families 
and eligible for pupil premium funding 

� all schools to be judged at least good or outstanding by the Office for Standards in 
Education, Children's Services and Skills (Ofsted) 

� all schools to achieve above National Floor Standards 
� where schools are underperforming clear action plans are in place to secure rapid 
improvements. 

 
 

Page 58



 
 

4 
 

 
 
1.4 The Local Authority Statutory duties for School Improvement  
 
� The role of the Local Authority in relation to education has changed significantly 

and its statutory duty are to promote high standards and fulfilment of potential in 
schools and other education and training providers so that all children and young 
people benefit from at least good education.  The Education Act 2012 sets out 
the strategic role of Local Authorities: champion for parents and families; 
champion for educational excellence and supporting vulnerable children. 

 
� The Local Authority retains the powers to intervene in maintained schools, which 

are underperforming, under the terms of Section 60 of the Education and 
Inspection Act 2006 and the Education Act 2011.  Accordingly the LA will take 
decisive action where schools have a record of failing to achieve the floor 
standard of attainment or progress or where there are serious concerns, which 
puts the achievement, safety and the general wellbeing of children and young 
people at risk. 

 
� The Local Authorities does not have any powers of intervention in relation to the 

educational performance of academies and free schools.  However, working with all 
schools is a fundamental part of the LA’s commitment to secure excellence for all 
children and young people.  Also the LA does retain a legal responsibility for 
performance across Bath & North East Somerset.  The LA is expected to act as a 
strategic commissioner for all schools and it is expected to act within the confines of 
its responsibilities should it have any concerns about the performance of an 
academy or free school.  The protocols for working with academies and free 
schools are set out in Appendix A. 

 
2.  A Partnership Framework for School Improvement and Achievement in Bath 

and North East Somerset (B&NES) 
 
2.1 The Local Authority wishes to work closely in partnership with all schools and 

provide appropriate levels of support, intervention and challenge, which contribute 
to school improvement.  It also wishes to ensure that its statutory duties are 
understood and undertaken effectively.  Central to this strategy is a focus on 
evaluation and monitoring of schools performance through a risk assessment 
model involving key partners in B&NES, which is seen as a main function in the 
school improvement process in setting priorities and making best use of limited 
resources.  The policy outlines how the LA will work with schools and academies 
to flourish: achieve excellence; how they will be monitored, challenged and 
supported where improvement is not secure. 
 

2.2 The Local Authority has developed a risk assessment approach to the monitoring 
a range of key indicators in relation to its statutory duties and responsibilities in 
relation to the learning, achievement and performance of schools.  The 
Performance Data and Commissioning Board will include regular consideration of 
risk assessment and performance monitoring reports.  In addition the Early Years 
and Youth Scrutiny Committee will receive termly reports of schools performance 
and risk assessments.  The Performance Data and Commissioning Board will 
involve representatives from maintain schools, Diocese, Local Authority School 

Page 59



 
 

5 
 

Improvement and Achievement Service, Partnership Teaching School and other 
education stakeholders as appropriate. 
 

2.3 The Local Authority recognises that there is no single solution to the way schools 
should be developed or undertake improvement.  As school-to-school support 
systems emerge, it is clear that a flexible framework, with agreed principles and 
shared aspirations, provide a useful and important basis for schools to create their 
own local visions and make their own locally relevant plans within a shared and 
coherent framework.  This strategy sets a framework for supporting these 
approaches and for our continued development of partnership working.  It also 
recognises that different schools need different kinds of support at various times 
to support their improvement work.  Therefore, the School Improvement Strategy 
is designed to provide tailor-made packages of support for schools, which include 
the Senior School Improvement Advisers (SSIA) and Consultants, brokered Early 
Years, NLEs, LLEs, SLEs, external consultants thorough the Partnership 
Teaching School. 
 

2.4 A key part of the strategy is the brokering of effective partnership and 
collaborations, which include stronger schools supporting the improvement of 
under performing schools.  The Education Excellence Board (EEB) and the 
Performance Data and Commissioning Board contribute to a more systematic 
school-to-school support model, which complements the Local Authority’s school 
improvement function.  All primary schools, including academies, are members of 
the Education Excellence Board.  Local cluster headteacher groups are taking the 
agenda forward in their local areas and are using the strengths of schools to help 
others to improve.  In addition to these collaborations, the Partnership Teaching 
School, the Dioceses of Clifton and Bath & Wells form a secure partnership 
network for school improvement across the Local Authority 

 
2.5 In implementing a clear strategy for school improvement we will build on and 

augment what schools are expected to do for themselves to manage their own 
improvement; how schools can benefit from working collaboratively together to 
support each other’s improvement and how schools, irrespective of type, adopt a 
collective responsibility for improving the outcomes for all children and young 
people in B&NES.  Where schools are judged by Ofsted as Requiring 
Improvement or placed in an Ofsted category detailed action plans, more 
intensive support and robust cycle of progress reviews to monitor the rate of 
improvement.  This process will be aligned to the regular monitoring visits by Her 
Majesty’s Inspectors (HMI). 

 
2.6 We will intervene formally when schools are not providing good enough quality of 

education, where there is cause for concern or when Ofsted judges a school to be 
inadequate.  The way we address concerns with the school will be discussed with 
senior leaders and governors before any formal action is taken. The strategy will 
primarily focus on building the climate and capacity for a culture of continuous 
improvement through effective leadership, development and dissemination of best 
practice between schools.  By supporting and enabling strong school leadership 
and management and through early intervention when necessary, we aim to work 
with schools to bring about the best possible education for children and young 
people. 

 

Page 60



 
 

6 
 

2.7 The Local Authority seeks to embrace the creativity and professionalism of both 
internal partnership working with schools and other providers alongside the rigour 
and assessment of Ofsted and other external regulatory frameworks to ensure the 
continuous focus on strengthening the performance and improvement in 
standards of learning and achievement in all schools. 

 
2.8 We aim to achieve this through working creatively in partnership with schools to 

promote and develop fully inclusive practice, with equality of outcome; supporting 
and challenging schools to be at least good; ensuring that educational 
achievement is amongst the best nationally and internationally. 

 
2.9 In order to carry out these duties, the Local Authority retains the powers to identify 

and intervene in schools causing concern.  These powers are set out in statutory 
guidance as set out in Appendix B. 

 
 
3. Monitoring and Evaluation Schedule 
 
3.1 The Senior School Improvement Advisers (SSIA) are at the heart of the Local 

Authority’s strategy for school improvement.  The key functions of the School 
Improvement Advisers are to: 
� analyse, interpret and use data outcomes from B&NES categorisation risk 
process 
� review and validate the school’s own Self Evaluation 
� agree improvement priorities 
� examine and discuss targets  
� plan for improvement  
� discuss and broker support where required 
� write reports for the school, governors and the Local Authority 
� advise and support governors in the recruitment of headteachers 

 
3.2  Each school has an attached Senior School Improvement Adviser (SSIA) who 

works with the school to provide challenge and support, and who carries out a 
regular cycle of monitoring and evaluation through focused supported self-
evaluation activities.  Each school has a universal offer of three half day visits.  In 
the autumn term the SSIA will carry out a desk top review of pupils’ achievement 
with a specific focus on the progress and attainment of pupils eligible for pupil 
premium funding, additional needs and the most able.  The focus of the two 
remaining visits is determined by the school and may include joint lesson 
observations, effectiveness of leadership, management and governance; 
accuracy of the school’s own self evaluation and their risk assessment against the 
agreed school categorisation characteristics.  The outcomes from these visits are 
regularly reported to the governors through notes of visits 

 
3.3 Through an annual cycle of meetings, the SSIA assists schools in validating their 

own self-assessment and the evidence to support this in relation to the 
achievement, quality of teaching, leadership, management and governance.  In 
addition, they are able to support schools in identifying priorities, determine any 
changes to the level of support and analyse the impact of their action plans; 
monitor closely strategies to support the most able and progress in narrowing the 
achievement gap for disadvantaged pupils.  Through these visits, the Local 

Page 61



 
 

7 
 

Authority will gain an accurate overview of the overall effectiveness of each 
maintained school, its potential challenges, any barriers to further improvements 
and its capacity to support other schools.  It will equip the SSIA to share, 
disseminate and promote good practice particularly on narrowing the achievement 
gap for disadvantaged pupils; raising the achievement of the most able and 
actively promote partnerships between schools.  The LA also maintains an 
overview of the outcome of school inspections and any associated monitoring 
visits by HMI.  This information is used to inform the School Improvement and 
Achievement Service Plan and the Children & Young People Service Plan 
 

3.4 Each year the Local Authority will reviews each school’s performance and 
communicates this to schools through an annual letter from the Divisional Director 
and Head of Education Improvement to the headteacher and chair of governors 
following the publication of the end of the Key Stage assessments.  In the spring 
term a more detailed analysis of the outcomes for disadvantaged groups is 
completed following the publication of nationally validated data.  When reviewing 
the performance of each school, we will consider each school’s capacity to 
sustain and secure further self-improvements or has any particular strength to 
support to other schools 

 
3.5 Where the Local Authority has communicated concerns about a school’s end of 

Key Stage results, the SSIA will attend a follow up meeting to discuss the 
concerns and the level of support needed to address this.  The meeting is 
attended by the headteacher, chair of governors, the SSIA and the Head of 
Education Improvement to review the effectiveness of the support and actions the 
school is taking to address the concerns.  If the Local Authority believes the 
actions are unlikely to address the concerns it may issue a Notice to Improve to 
governors stating the improvement required.  This will specify the actions that the 
school must take within a clear time frame to remedy the identified concerns. 
Termly monitoring visits by the SSIA and Progress Review meetings with the 
headteacher and chair of governors will ensure progress in addressing the 
priorities as set out in the action plan. 

 
4. Levels of Support 

 
4.1 The Local Authority believes that schools should control their own destiny in the 

interest of children and young people.  However, it is recognised that not all 
schools have capacity to determine their improvement and may need additional 
support, challenge and intervention to secure excellence for all.  The purpose of 
assigning support levels to all maintained schools is to ensure that the limited 
resources available can be targeted to schools with the greatest needs so that 
they can achieve the best possible outcomes for all children and young people 
 

4.2 The level of support provided to each school is agreed in partnership with the 
school on an annual basis.  Changes can be made to the support level throughout 
the year if the school’s circumstances change.  This will be agreed in partnership 
with the SSIA, the headteacher and the chair of governors and will be formally 
recorded through a note of visit 

 
4.3 The relationship between the School Improvement and Achievement Service and 

each schools is based on the level of concern related to Ofsted inspection 

Page 62



 
 

8 
 

outcomes, performance in national tests and examinations, the Local Authority 
and Diocesan knowledge and intelligence about the school using all available 
data and information.  Schools causing concern receive the highest level of 
support, which is reduced significantly once the school is judged good or 
outstanding 

 
4.4 The Senior School Improvement Adviser (SSIA) will agree the priorities and level 

of support with the headteacher and the chair of governors.  The NLE or LLE will 
work with the headteacher to plan the focus of the support, develop the Action 
Plan and coordinate the support.  The Action Plan will encompass pupils’ 
achievement with clear targets for each group of pupils, teaching and learning 
and the leadership and management.  Where a school is judged as requiring 
improvement or placed in an Ofsted category a more detailed the Action Plan will 
be required to be focused on the areas for development identified in the 
inspection.   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 63



 

9 
 

School Categorisation and Risk Assessment 
Key Characteristics 
It is not expected that a school has to demonstrate all the characteristics within the support level – key characteristics are highlighted in bold  

1.Great 2. Secure 3. Vulnerable  4. Causing Concern 

• Outstanding in all areas in 
the most recent inspection  

• Secure capacity for 
sustained improvement 

• Capacity to provide support 
to other schools in 
challenging circumstances 

• Systems leaders including 
NLEs, LLEs, SLEs and 
accredited Ofsted 
Inspectors 

• **The Christian character 
contributes fully to pupil’s 
high academic 
achievement, behaviour 
and attendance. 

• Overall judgement of good or better 
in the most recent inspection  

• Leadership and management 
judged to be good or better in the 
most recent inspection 

• Capacity to improve is strong 

• Self-evaluation processes rigorous 
and accurate; used to inform 
improvement  

• Progress and attainment is above 
national averages and above the 
floor standard criteria on all 
measures 

• Future estimates/targets show 
sustained high standards 

• The quality of teaching is good or 
better and is improving 

• There are no significant gaps 
between the progress of different 
groups particularly those eligible for 
pupil premium funding 

• Governance is strong, challenging 
and effective  

• Attendance is in-line or national 
averages 

• Parents are engaged and are 
positive about the school 

• Committed to collaboration with 
other schools 

• Inclusion for children with additional 
needs is strong. 

• **The Christian character 
contributes fully to pupil’s high 

• Safeguarding procedures are not 
fully in place 

• Attainment is below the threshold 
measures for the floor standard  

• Progress is below national average 
in reading, writing and/or 
mathematics  

• Overall judgement of requiring 
improvement in recent inspection  

• Quality of teaching is not consistent 
across the school or within key stages 

• Future estimates/targets show 
declining trend 

• Some groups of pupils, particularly 
those eligible for pupil premium 
funding, make slow progress and/or 
significant and widening gaps between 
groups  

• Attendance is low or declining and/or 
persistent absence is rising 

• Levels of permanent and fixed term 
exclusions are higher than national 
average and/or rising  

• Leadership and management require 
additional support or capacity is limited 

• Self evaluation clearly identifies 
priorities which will require external 
support 

• Performance management is not 
effectively established 

• Weaknesses in provision for Special 
Educational Needs & Disabilities 
(SEND) pupils 

• Safeguarding procedures are not 
in place and children/young 
people are not safe 

• The school has been judged to 
have serious weaknesses or to 
require special measures at its 
most recent OFSTED inspection 

• Attainment and progress is below 
the floor standard in reading, 
writing and mathematics 

• The LA has served the governing 
body with a warning notice 

• Governors do not fulfil their 
statutory duties. P

age 64



 
 

10 
 

academic achievement, behaviour 
and attendance. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

• Persistent vacancies on governing 
body  

• Ofsted recommends a review of 
governance 

• Headteacher vacancy or temporary 
absence 

• Staff capacity limited due to high 
turnover, absence, staff vacancies, 
recruitment or retention issues 

• Parents’ perceptions are negative or 
deteriorating 

• Budget deficit or significant underspend 

• Falling rolls 

• High level of pupil mobility/casual 
admissions 

• High levels of complaints 

• Inclusive practices are weak 

• **The Christian character contributes 
fully to pupil’s high academic 
achievement, behaviour and 
attendance. 

 

 
**These aspects have been agreed by the Diocese of Bath and Wells and apply to church schools ONLY 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 65



 
 

11 
 

 
 
 
                       Allocation of Support for each Category of School 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The Diocese of Bath and Wells and the Diocese of Clifton will work in partnership with the Local Authority and the Partnership 
Teaching School to ensure a coherent and consistent approach to supporting schools to achieve excellence for pupils. 

 
Great Schools & Secure Schools 

 
Vulnerable Schools 

 
Schools Causing Concern 

 

 
1.5 days 

 
12 days 

 
20 days 

 

 
Outstanding and Good 

 
Requires Improvement 

 
Serious Weakness or Special 

Measures 
 

 
At risk of not retaining this judgment 
� increased support from usual if 
inspection due and there are 
additional concerns 

� underperforming disadvantaged 
groups. 

 
At risk of RI judgment due to for e.g. 
� downward trend 
� below or close to the floor 
standard 

� underperforming disadvantaged 
groups. 
 

 
At Risk of an Ofsted Category 
� inadequate progress. 

P
age 66



 

12 
 

Protocol for Schools Requiring Improvement 
 
� The Senior School Improvement Adviser (SSIA) attends the feedback at the end of 

the inspection and meet with HMI during their monitoring visits 
 
� SSIA or Head of Education Improvement meets with Headteacher and Chair of 

Governors within two weeks of the inspection to discuss the inspection outcomes 
and the next steps including the Ofsted guidance on Monitoring schools judged as 
Requiring Improvement 

 
� Once the report is published, the SSIA attends a full governing body meeting 

(extraordinary if necessary) to discuss the outcomes from the inspection, share the 
Ofsted guidance on monitoring arrangements for schools judged a Requiring 
Improvement and the Local Authority’s monitoring arrangements 

 
� An NLE or LLE will be commissioned through the Partner Teaching School to 

support the Headteacher with revising the School’s Improvement/Development Plan 
or in producing a new Action Plan within four weeks of the inspection (if the school's 
current development plan is fit for purpose, the school does not need to produce a 
separate action plan).  The school’s action plan will need to be approved by the 
Head of Education Improvement before the first HMI monitoring visit 

 
� The Action Plan will provide a comprehensive summary of the support 

commissioned by the School Improvement and Achievement Service or by the 
school including any requirement to carry out a pupil premium or governing body 
review 

 
� The SSIA will carry out termly whole day monitoring visits to evaluate the impact of 

support and progress in addressing the areas for development identified in the 
inspection.  The SSIA will provide a written report, which clearly outlines the school’s 
progress in addressing the areas for improvement.  This report provides an external 
objective evaluation of actions taken by senior leaders to bring about improvements 

 
� Termly Progress Review Meetings with the Headteacher and Chair of Governors 

ensure a shared understanding of the impact of actions taken to bring about 
improvements and the school’s capacity to sustain and make further improvements. 
it is also an opportunity to review support levels 

 
� Governors are advised to establish their own strategic monitoring group to monitor 

the implementation of the action plan if there is not a strategic group already in place 
to monitor and hold senior leaders to account for progress in addressing the 
priorities in the Action Plan 

 
� The Headteacher is invited to attend the Getting to Good Network, which provides 

opportunities to share good practice 
 
� Where the rate of improvement in addressing the areas for development identified by 

Ofsted is too slow the Headteacher and Chair of Governors are invited to a meeting 
with the Director of People and Communities and a Warning Notice may be issued. 

 
 

Page 67



 
 

13 
 

School to School Support  
 
One of the most valuable resources to support schools is that which can be sourced 
from other schools.  The Local Authority, in partnership with schools, has been 
facilitating a self-improving school system for a number of years.  A number of 
partnerships and networks are already in place and the Local Authority is keen to 
promote and secure effective ways of developing and extending the model of school-to-
school support through the establishment of the Education Excellence Board.  
 
Headteachers, senior and middle leaders are offered support through the National and 
Local Leaders of Education programme operated by the National College through 
Partnership Teaching Schools.  In addition, headteachers of schools categorised as 
Great* are able to provide formal support to other colleagues or school for a time limited 
period to undertake a variety of roles including the provision of interim leadership for a 
school in difficulty, mentoring, coaching or adding capacity at a crucial time.  
 
Support can be commissioned directly by the headteacher or governors from another 
school.  The Local Authority is able to commission support on behalf of a school as part 
of the identified package of support for a school designated as vulnerable or causing 
concern.  
 
The criteria used for identifying a headteacher to support to a vulnerable school: 
  

1. the school must have been judged to be at least good in its last Ofsted inspection 
and meet the Local Authority characteristics of a Great School 

2. the school’s own inspection is not imminent or likely in the next twelve months 
3. the school’s senior leadership team is highly experienced and effective with the 

capacity to support another school 
4. the governing body is strong and very robust 
5. the headteacher has the full support of the governing body in supporting another 

school 
6. the headteacher is an accredited NLE, LLE or Ofsted Inspector 
7. the headteacher has recent experience of successfully moving a school from 

Requiring Improvement to Good or out of an Ofsted category 
8. the headteacher is recommended or endorsed by the Diocese in the case of 

Voluntary Aided schools. 

National and Local Leaders of Education 
 
The primary objective of the National and Local Leaders of Education initiative in the 
Local Authority is to build the capacity for sustainable improvement across all schools. 
NLEs and LLEs will normally be deployed through the Performance Data and 
Collaboration Board or commissioned directly by schools or the School Improvement 
and Achievement Service. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 68



 
 

14 
 

 
   Strategy for Schools at Risk, Vulnerable or Causing Concern 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

HOEI/SSIA  
evaluates/reviews support changes, support level or 

agrees next steps 

 

Meeting  
new support level ratified with the 

Chair of Governors and 
Headteacher 

Evaluation Report 
evaluates the impact of the Task Group and HOSI 

reports to FGB and LA 
  
 

School identified at Vulnerable 
 through school self assessment, SSIA monitoring 

visit or end of Key Stage outcomes  
 

 
Letter to School   
To inform concerns  

 

 
HOEI/SSIA Meeting with HT and CoG  

To confirm risk level and review actions taken to 
address concerns 

Action Plan  
written and agreed in partnership with and HT and 

appropriate support commissioned/brokered by SSIA 

Monitoring Progress Meeting  
monitors impact of support  
and reviews the Action Plan 

 

Page 69



 
 

15 
 

The Annual Programme for School Improvement and Achievement Adviser visits 

 
There is a universal offer of 1.5 days of centrally commissioned visits for all maintained 
schools – 0.5 day each term.  The LA is able to commission termly visits on behalf of 
academies and free schools if requested.  
 
Schools, which have the support level for vulnerable or causing concern can have 
additional time commissioned from the Partnership Teaching School, directly from other 
schools or from other systems leaders. 
 
Autumn Term 2015 
 
The note of visit following the SSIA visit to the school should refer to: 
 
� achievement - standards and progress – all key stages 
� confirmation of current year targets and the year ahead 
� analysis of performance of groups of pupils - including disadvantaged groups 

eligible for pupil premium funding 
� use and impact of pupil premium funding 
� effectiveness of performance management arrangements 
� Governance - check status of vacancies, training uptake.  

 
Spring Term 2016 
 
The note of visit following the SSIA visit to the school should refer to: 
 
� achievement using validated data - RaiseOnline and benchmarked/comparative data 
� progress towards targets 2016 and 2017 
� analysis of performance of groups of pupils – including disadvantaged groups 

eligible for pupil premium funding 
� narrowing the achievement gap against national benchmarks 
� quality of teaching and learning or effectiveness of leadership and management 

including governance - what the school's internal monitoring shows.  
 
Summer Term 2016 
 
The note of visit following the SSIA visit to the school should refer to: 
 
� review of school support level 
� progress towards targets 2016 and 2017 analysis of performance of groups of pupils 

– including disadvantaged groups eligible for pupil premium funding 
� narrowing the achievement gap against national benchmarks 
� quality of teaching and learning or effectiveness of leadership and management 

including governance - what the school's internal monitoring shows.  
 
 
 
 
 
 

Appendix A 

Page 70



 
 

16 
 

 
A Protocol for working with Academy Schools  

 
Rationale for a Protocol  
The education landscape is changing significantly as a result national policy to increase 
autonomy and develop greater context freedoms and responsibilities to schools.  The 
Department for Education (DfE) sets out its aims for the school system to become more 
effectively self-improving in the White Paper ‘The importance of Teaching’ 2010.  
However, they also made it clear that local authorities will continue to have strong 
strategic role: “in a more autonomous school system, local authorities have the 
indispensable role to play as champion of children and parents, ensuring the school 
system works for every family and using their democratic mandate to challenge every 
school to do the best for their population.”  
The Academies Act 2010 confirms that the LA has no statutory powers of 
intervention in academy schools but is expected to refer any concerns it may 
have to the Secretary of State. 
 
Sir Michael Wiltshire, HMCI, stated in February 2013, that LAs have a vital role in 
driving school improvement and have statutory responsibilities to ensure good provision 
for all children in their area, through identifying and reporting under-performance in 
Academies and Free Schools.  This was reinforced in July 2013, when he indicated that 
councils still have an important role to play in improving educational standards urging 
them to: “D take direct action about any school where there are concerns about 
performance D” 
 
Given the LA statutory duty to support and challenge the performance of all schools; 
closing the achievement gap for disadvantaged pupils; securing excellence for all 
children and young people and driving high standards across the whole school system, 
Bath and North East Somerset Council needs to ensure engagement with all schools in 
order to secure whole system improvement that includes academies and free schools. 
 
Introduction  
This protocol sets out the responsibilities for both Academy Schools and Bath and North 
East Somerset Council so that both parties share the same understanding of their 
respective roles in enabling the children and young people attending Bath and North 
East Somerset Council schools to achieve their potential.  It is a protocol that explains 
how both parties will work together positively and how any problems can be resolved.  It 
is important that there is a continuous ‘open door dialogue’ so that concerns about 
performance or inclusion issues are raised at the earliest opportunity and within the 
context of a positive and open relationship. 
 
In a diverse educational landscape Bath and North East Somerset Council will exercise 
a range of roles and responsibilities in line with its statutory responsibilities.  Bath and 
North East Somerset Council is committed to continuing to work positively with 
Academies, sponsors and new providers, most particularly to ensure that the vulnerable 
students can access their local school and receive the support they need to make good 
progress. Bath and North East Somerset Council retains its statutory responsibilities 
and a requirement to promote excellence and address underperformance across all 
settings and providers. 
New national policy clearly indicates the LA is expected to raise concerns about the 
conduct or performance of Academies directly with the EFA and/or Secretary of State.  

Appendix A 

Page 71



 
 

17 
 

It is our shared intention that concerns and issues should always be dealt with at a local 
level, but the LA will exercise its right to direct formal concerns to the EFA or Secretary 
of State where the concern is either persistent or so serious it cannot be resolved 
locally.  
 
This protocol will apply to convertor and sponsor Academies and Free Schools, unless 
they formally communicate that they do not want to work within this Protocol when their 
concerns will be dealt with through the DfE or EFA.  
 
Key principles: 
Both parties recognise their joint responsibilities to ensure the best provision possible 
for all children and young people living and/or attending schools in Bath and North East 
Somerset.  This particularly applies to vulnerable groups of children such as those that 
suffer deprivation, have special educational needs, and children in need or in care. 
 
To support this joint endeavour the parties agree to:  
� recognise their shared responsibilities to ensure the best possible educational 

provision for all children and young people 
 

� work in partnership on all matters relating to the education and welfare of all children 
and young people 
 

� raise issues and concerns about any aspect of the Academy’s performance are 
raised in an open and transparent manner 
 

� there is fairness and with impartiality at all times and show mutual respect 
 

� show an awareness of the impact of any action on other providers 
 

� actively participate in local partnerships and other forums, which involves developing 
local provision 
 

� agree to share data in line with the agreed protocol and not use information or data 
publicly that criticises other providers 
 

secure safeguarding so that all concerned are safe. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 72



 
 

18 
 

DfE Statutory Guidance for Schools Causing Concern 
 
Introduction 
This statutory guidance sets out the local authority’s role in relation to maintained 
schools that are causing concern. It sets out the importance of early intervention and of 
swift and robust action to tackle failure, including the use of Warning Notices and 
Interim Executive Boards (IEB) in maintained schools. The guidance is clear about the 
Government’s expectation that academy status, with the support of a strong sponsor, is 
the best way of securing lasting improvement in these circumstances.  
Local authorities’ statutory responsibilities for educational excellence are set out in 
section 13a of the Education Act 1996. That duty states that a local authority must 
exercise its education functions with a view to promoting high standards. Local 
authorities are discharging this duty within the context of increasing autonomy and 
changing accountability for schools, alongside an expectation that improvement should 
be led by schools themselves.  
 

Local authorities should raise any concerns they have about academy performance 
directly with the Department for Education.  
 

Beyond this statutory guidance, local authorities have considerable freedom as to how 
they deliver their statutory responsibilities. The 2010 White Paper, The Importance of 
Teaching, set out the role of local authorities as champions of educational excellence.  
 

Local authorities that champion educational excellence:  
1. Understand the performance of maintained schools in their area, using data to 

identify those schools that require improvement and intervention.  
2. Take swift and effective action when failure occurs in a maintained school, using 

Warning Notices and IEBs whenever necessary to get leadership and standards 
back up to at least “good”.  

3. Intervene early where the performance of a maintained school is declining, 
ensuring that schools secure the support needed to improve to at least “good”.  

4. Encourage good and outstanding maintained schools to take responsibility for 
their own improvement and to support other schools.  

5. Build strong working relationships with education leaders in their area and 
encourage high calibre school leaders to support and challenge others.  

6. Delegate funding to the frontline, so that as much as possible reaches pupils.  
7. Enable maintained schools to purchase from a diverse market of excellent 

providers.  
8. Sign post where schools can access appropriate support.  
9. Secure strong leadership and governance for maintained schools that are not 

providing a good enough education, by identifying and supporting successful 
sponsors.  

10. Seek to work constructively with academies and alert the Department for 
Education when they have concerns about standards or leadership in an 
academy.  

 
 
 
 
 
 

Appendix B 

Page 73



 
 

19 
 

Schools causing concern  
 

Part 4 of, and Schedule 6 to, the 2006 Act set out that a (maintained) school is “eligible 
for intervention” where:  

1. a warning notice has been given(section60) with which the school has failed to 
comply or has failed to comply to the satisfaction of the local authority and the 
local authority have also given the governing body a written notice that they 
propose to exercise one or more of their powers under Part 4 of the 2006 Act;  

2. teachers' pay and conditions warning notice has been given (section 60A)
 
with 

which the school has failed to comply and the local authority have also given 
written notice to the governing body that they propose to exercise one or more of 
their powers under Part 4 of the 2006 Act;  

3. a school requires significant improvement (section61); and,  
4. a school requires special measures (section 62).  

 

1. Schools eligible for intervention as a result of a warning notice  
Warning notices should be used as an early form of intervention, particularly where 
standards are unacceptably low and other tools and strategies have not secured 
improvement.  
A warning notice may be given by a local authority in one of three circumstances:  

1. the standards of performance of pupils at the school are unacceptably  low and 
are likely to remain so unless the authority exercise their powers under Part 4 of 
the 2006 Act; or,  

2. there has been a serious breakdown in the way the school is managed or 
governed which is prejudicing, or likely to prejudice, such standards of 
performance; or,  

3. the safety of pupils or staff at the school is threatened (whether by a breakdown 
of discipline or otherwise). 

 

Low standards of performance  
The definition of what constitutes “low standards of performance” is set out in section 
60(3) of the 2006 Act. This is where they are low by reference to any one or more of the 
following:  

I. the standards that the pupils might in all the circumstances reasonably be 
expected to attain; or,  

II. where relevant, the standards previously attained by them; or,  
III. the standards attained by pupils at comparable schools.  

For the purpose of this guidance, “unacceptably low standards of performance” 

includes: standards below the floor, on either attainment or progress of pupils
5
; low 

standards achieved by disadvantaged pupils; a sudden drop in performance; sustained 
historical underperformance, performance of pupils (including disadvantaged pupils) 
unacceptably low in relation to expected achievement or prior attainment, or 

performance of a school not meeting the expected standards of comparable schools
6
.  

In these situations the local authority should issue a warning notice unless there 
is a particular reason not to do so. Local authorities are not limited to giving a 
warning notice only to those schools which are persistently below the floor.  
There is a clear expectation that where the school has a history of sustained 
underperformance, conversion to an academy with a strong sponsor will be the normal 
route to secure improvement. The warning notice for such schools should make that 
expectation clear.  

Page 74



 
 

20 
 

 

Pupil Premium  
Local authorities should also consider issuing a warning notice to schools that have not 
responded robustly or rapidly enough to a recommendation by Ofsted to commission an 
external review of the use and impact of the Pupil Premium. Such recommendations are 
normally made as part of Section 5 inspections in schools ‘requiring improvement’ 
where the standard of performance of disadvantaged pupils is judged to be 
unacceptably low.  
Since it is a core function of governing bodies to create robust accountability for the 
educational performance of the school, failure to address such recommendations by 
Ofsted should be seen as an indication that the school is causing sufficient concern for 
the local authority to consider issuing a warning notice. Following the inspection, where 
no significant improvement is realised by the school within reasonable timeframes, local 
authorities should consider using their powers of intervention to stimulate and drive 
change.  
 
Schools do not need to wait for an Ofsted inspection recommendation to seek an 
external review of the Pupil Premium. Local authorities may themselves consider 
issuing such a recommendation where they have concerns about the quality of a 
school’s performance, before considering more formal intervention. Guidance is 
available from the National College for Teaching and Leadership on commissioning and 
conducting such external reviews.  
 

Breakdown in the way the school is managed or governed  
Local authorities should provide tailored support or consider issuing a warning notice, 
depending on the severity of the case, to maintained schools where the governing body 
is failing to deliver one or more of its 3 core strategic roles resulting in a serious 
breakdown in the way the school is managed or governed.  
The strategic role of a governing body is to:  

1. Ensure clarity of vision, ethos and strategic direction;  
2. Holdtheheadteachertoaccountfortheeducationalperformanceoftheschool and its 

pupils, and the performance management of staff; and  
3. Overseethefinancialperformanceoftheschoolandmakingsureitsmoneyiswell spent.  

Evidence that governors may be failing to deliver on one or more of these strategic roles 
could include: high governor turnover; a significant, unexplained change to the 
constitution; and/or the governing body having an excessive involvement in the day to 
day running of the school. These situations could all indicate a failure of governance 
that may prejudice standards and the local authority may want to investigate and 
intervene early by issuing a warning notice.  
 

In the examples described above, a warning notice can be issued even if the school 
passes the “low standards of performance” test. Other options available to the local 
authority could include the use of a financial audit or seeking an external review of 
governance. If the governing body fails to act following the issue of a warning notice, the 
LA may then consider; co-opting of additional governors, withdrawal of financial 
delegation or the replacement of the governing body with an Interim Executive Board. 
Local authorities should raise any concerns about governance arrangements in 
academies with the Department for Education.  
Local authorities should also consider issuing a warning notice to maintained schools 
that have not responded robustly or rapidly enough to a recommendation by Ofsted to 
commission a robust and objective external review of their governance arrangements. 

Page 75



 
 

21 
 

Such recommendations are normally made as part of Section 5 inspections in schools 
‘requiring improvement’ where governance is judged to be weak.  
 
Schools do not need to wait for an Ofsted inspection recommendation to seek an 
external review of their governance arrangements. Local authorities may themselves 
consider issuing such a recommendation where they have concerns about the quality of 
a maintained school’s governance, before considering more formal intervention. 
Guidance is available from the National College for Teaching and Leadership on 
commissioning and conducting such external reviews.  
 

Eligibility for Intervention  
A school is “eligible for intervention” and intervention powers may be exercised in the 
case where a warning notice has been given and the school has failed to comply or has 
not complied with the notice to the satisfaction of the local authority and where the local 
authority have also given the school written notice that they propose to exercise one or 
more of their powers under Part 4 of the 2006 Act.  
 

2. Schools eligible for intervention as a result of having been judged 
as “requiring significant improvement” or “special measures”  
If, following an inspection under section 5 of the Education Act 2005, Ofsted judges a 
school to be inadequate for overall effectiveness (Grade 4), it will give a judgement that 
the school requires either “significant improvement” (described as a school with “serious 
weaknesses”) or “special measures”. Where a school is eligible for intervention by virtue 
of this judgement, it is not necessary for the local authority to give a warning notice to 
the school. If the school has already been given a warning notice by a local authority, a 
Grade 4 Ofsted judgement means the school is eligible for intervention whether or not 
the period of compliance in the warning notice has expired or the governing body has 
made representations or intend to make representations to Ofsted.  
 

There is a clear expectation that in these cases, where the school has been judged by 
Ofsted to have “serious weaknesses” or require “special measures”, conversion to an 
academy with a strong sponsor will be the normal route to secure improvement and that 

this is set out clearly in the local authority statement of action
. 

 

Inspectors make a judgement on the fitness for purpose of local authorities’ statements 
of action. From September 2012, this judgement is made at the first monitoring 
inspection of all schools judged to require “special measures” and those that have been 
judged to have “serious weaknesses”. If, the statement of action is judged to be not fit 
for purpose at the first monitoring inspection, a revised version must be made available 
to Her Majesty’s Inspector (HMI) at the second monitoring inspection. HMI will judge 
whether the revised statement is fit for purpose and report accordingly.  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 76



 
 

22 
 

Warning notices  
Section 60 of the 2006 Act sets out the provisions relating to warning notices.  A 
warning notice should be used where there is evidence to justify both the local 
authority’s concerns and the school’s reluctance or inability to address those concerns 
successfully within a reasonable time frame. Before deciding to give such a warning 
notice, local authorities must draw on a suitable range of quantitative and qualitative 
information to form a complete picture of a school’s performance.  
 

1. Giving a warning notice  
When used effectively many local authorities have found that giving warning notices has 
had a positive impact on schools causing concern, often providing a catalyst for more 
focused and appropriate action from both the leadership team and the governing body. 
It is expected that local authorities will use these powers more frequently as part of their 
wider plans to accelerate improvements in standards.  
 

A warning notice must be given in writing to the governing body of the school and must 
set out:  
1. the matters on which the local authority’s concerns are based. These should be set 
out in some detail and explain the facts that exist in that particular school and the 
circumstances which are giving the local authority cause for concern;  
2. the action which the governing body is required to take in order to address the 
concerns raised;  
3. the initial compliance period beginning with the day when the warning notice is given 
and ending 15 working days following that day, during which time the governing body is 
to address the concerns set out in the warning notice, or make representations to 
Ofsted against the warning notice; and,  
4. the action which the local authority is minded to take (under one or more of sections 
63 to 66 of the 2006 Act or otherwise) if the governing body does not take the required 
action.  
 

In addition to giving the governing body a warning notice, the local authority must also 
give a copy to the head teacher; and in the case of a Church of England Church school 
or a Roman Catholic Church school, the appropriate diocesan authority; and in the case 
of a foundation or voluntary school, the person who appoints the foundation governors.  
 
All warning notices must be copied to Ofsted at the same time using the email address:  
warningnotices@ofsted.gov.uk  
 
Where a warning notice has been given which has not been complied with to the 
satisfaction of the local authority within the compliance period, the local authority must 
also give the school reasonable notice in writing. Whilst what is reasonable will vary 
depending upon the circumstances, the expectation is that the local authority will notify 
the school that they propose to exercise one or more of their powers under Part 4 of the 
2006 Act within two months from the end of the compliance period. When a school has 
failed to comply with a warning notice and the local authority have also given a further 
written notice, a school is eligible for intervention. 

 
 
 
 

Page 77



 
 

23 
 

2. Making representations against the warning notice  
The warning notice must state that the governing body of a school can make 
representations in writing to Ofsted. The 2006 Act does not specify the grounds for 
making representations, but it could be that the school believes that the local authority 
have:  

1. Given the warning notice without sufficient objective evidence  
2. Proposed action that is disproportionate to the scale of the issues facing the 

school  

The representations must be made in writing within 15 working days 
9 

of receipt of the 
warning notice. For the representations to be valid, they must be sent to 
warningnotices@ofsted.gov.uk and must also be copied to the local authority.  
 
Ofsted must consider any representations and may confirm the warning notice or not. 
This will usually be within a period of 10 working days after receipt of the 
representations, although this is not set out in legislation. Ofsted may ask either party to 
submit further evidence where this is felt to be insubstantial, prior to deciding on the 
representations.  
 
If Ofsted confirms the warning notice, the school is eligible for intervention after 15 
working days beginning with the day on which Ofsted confirms the warning notice.  
Irrespective of whether the governing body have made representations to Ofsted, the 
Secretary of State may make a direction under section 496 and/or 497of the Education 
Act 1996 pursuant to a complaint or otherwise. This enables the Secretary of State to 
make a direction, if expedient to do so, where he is satisfied that a local authority have 
acted, or are proposing to act, unreasonably with respect to the exercising of a power or 
performance of a duty under the 1996 Act, or certain other Acts which are read together 
with the 1996 Act (including the 2006 Act), or where the local authority have failed to 
discharge a duty.  
 
 

Power of the Secretary of State to direct the local authority to 
consider giving and to give a warning notice  
The Secretary of State has the power to direct a local authority to first consider giving a 
warning notice in specified terms and then, to direct the local authority to give a warning 
notice in those terms where a local authority have decided not to do so.  
 

A direction to give a warning notice in specified terms may be given if the Secretary of 
State thinks there are reasonable grounds for the local authority to do so and:  

1. The local authority have not given a warning notice to the governing body; or  
2. The local authority have given a warning notice, but in inadequate terms; or  
3. The local authority have given a warning notice to the governing body but Ofsted 

have failed or declined to confirm it; or  
4. The school has become eligible for intervention, but the period of two months 

following the end of the compliance period has ended.  
 

The local authority may then decide to give the warning notice to the governing body in 
the specified terms and must give the Secretary of State a written response to the 
direction confirming this within 10 working days beginning with the day on which the 
direction was given. They must then give a warning notice to the governing body within 
5 working days from the day on which a response is given to the Secretary of State and, 

Page 78



 
 

24 
 

on the same day, give the Secretary of State a copy of the warning notice and send it to 
warningnotices@ofsted.gov.uk.  
 

If the local authority decides not to comply with the direction, then they must respond to 

the Secretary of State within 10 working days
11 

beginning with the day on which the 
direction was given setting out the reasons for that decision. If, having considered these 
reasons, the Secretary of State believes that a warning notice is still necessary then the 
local authority will be directed to give a warning notice in those specified terms. The 
local authority must then give this warning notice to the governing body within 5 working 
days beginning with the date when the direction is given.  
 

Once this warning notice has been given, the school has 15 working days to comply 
with the terms of the warning notice or make representations to Ofsted as with any other 
warning notice given.  
 

 

The local authority must judge whether the school has complied with the terms of the 
warning notice. If the local authority concludes that the school has failed to comply with 
the warning notice and has also given written notice to the governing body that they 
propose to exercise one or more of their intervention powers, then it is “eligible for 
intervention” as set out in Part 4 of, and Schedule 6 to, the 2006 Act, and the 
intervention powers of the Secretary of State and the local authority may be exercised.  
The Secretary of State may also request Ofsted to inspect and report on a school where 
there are serious concerns under provisions in the Education Act 2005.  
 
 

Local authorities’ powers of intervention  
Where a school is eligible for intervention there are a number of powers the local 
authority or the Secretary of State may use to drive school improvement. These 
interventions are set out in sections 63-66 of the 2006 Act in respect of local authorities.  

 
1. Power to suspend the delegated authority for the governing body to 
manage a school’s budget  
Section 66 of the 2006 Act enables a local authority to suspend the governing body’s 
right to a delegated budget by giving the governing body of the school notice in writing. 
This applies where a maintained school is eligible for intervention and the school has a 
delegated budget within the meaning of Part 2 of the School Standards and Framework 
Act 1998.  
 
Local authorities are strongly recommended to withdraw delegation from all schools 
eligible for intervention at the time the intervention position is confirmed since doing so 
can secure local authority control over staffing and spending decisions in order to 
secure improvements. It may be best used, for example, where the governing body is 
providing insufficient challenge and support to the headteacher or senior management 
team of the school, or where management of the budget is providing a distraction from 
improvement priorities for governors.  
 
A copy of the notice to suspend the right to a delegated budget must be given to the 
head teacher of the school and the governing body. If the local authority has appointed 
an IEB, during the period when the governing body is constituted as an IEB (the interim 
period) the local authority cannot suspend the school’s right to a delegated budget.  

Page 79



 
 

25 
 

 
Timeframe  
Where a school is eligible for intervention as a result of being given a warning notice, 
this power must be exercised within a period of two months following the end of the 
compliance period. If the local authority fails to exercise this power within this time, it 
can no longer be exercised and a new warning notice must be given in order to do so. 
There is no requirement for the local authority to consult before exercising this power.  

 
2. Power to appoint an Interim Executive Board (IEB)  
Section 65 of the 2006 Act enables the local authority to apply to the Secretary of State 
for consent to constitute the governing body as an IEB in accordance with Schedule 6 to 
the 2006 Act. An IEB can be used to accelerate improvement in standards and 
attainment and provide challenge to the leadership of the school to secure rapid 
improvement or where there has been a serious breakdown of working relationships 
within the governing body of the school.  

 
Timeframe  
This power may be exercised at any time a school is eligible for intervention and is not 
subject to the time limitation set out above in respect of other intervention powers.  

 
Consultation  
Before the local authority can exercise this intervention power they must consult:  

1. the governing body of the school;  
2. in the case of a Church of England school or a Roman Catholic Church school, 

the appropriate diocesan authority; and,  
3. in the case of any other foundation or voluntary school, the person or body by 

whom the foundation governors are appointed.  
 
A fair consultation must be undertaken when proposals are at a formative stage and 
include sufficient detail to allow those consulted to give a considered response. The 
local authority may offer a meeting with the governing body as part of this consultation. 
A final decision should only be taken after consideration of any representations 
received. There is no statutory time scale in which the consultation process is to be 
completed and it is likely that this will vary depending on the circumstances in which the 
IEB is required. We would expect a normal consultation process to take about 10 (ten) 
days.  
 

IEB applications should be made using the form on the DfE website
12 

and should follow 
the guidance for the completion of an IEB application form.  
After obtaining consent in writing from the Secretary of State, the local authority must 
write to the governing body to give them notice that the IEB will be established. This 
notice should specify a date when the IEB will commence and will usually also give a 
date when the IEB will cease but may not always.  

 
Delegated budget  
An IEB has a right to a delegated budget. If the school’s budget has previously been 
withdrawn from the governing body, then the local authority must restore the budget 
from the date when the IEB commences its work. If a notice has been given to the 
normally constituted governing body specifying a date when it is proposed to withdraw 

Page 80



 
 

26 
 

the right to improvement or where there has been a serious breakdown of working 
relationships within the governing body of the school.  

 
Timeframe  
This power may be exercised at any time a school is eligible for intervention and is not 
subject to the time limitation set out above in respect of other intervention powers.  

 
Consultation  
Before the local authority can exercise this intervention power they must consult:  

1. the governing body of the school;  
2. in the case of a Church of England school or a Roman Catholic Church school, 

the appropriate diocesan authority; and,  
3. in the case of any other foundation or voluntary school, the person or body by 

whom the foundation governors are appointed.  
 
A fair consultation must be undertaken when proposals are at a formative stage and 
include sufficient detail to allow those consulted to give a considered response. The 
local authority may offer a meeting with the governing body as part of this consultation. 
A final decision should only be taken after consideration of any representations 
received. There is no statutory time scale in which the consultation process is to be 
completed and it is likely that this will vary depending on the circumstances in which the 
IEB is required. We would expect a normal consultation process to take about 10 (ten) 
days.  
 

IEB applications should be made using the form on the DfE website
12 

and should follow 
the guidance for the completion of an IEB application form.  
After obtaining consent in writing from the Secretary of State, the local authority must 
write to the governing body to give them notice that the IEB will be established. This 
notice should specify a date when the IEB will commence and will usually also give a 
date when the IEB will cease but may not always.  
 

The role and duties of the IEB  
The IEB’s main function is to secure a sound basis for future improvement in the school 
and this should include the promotion of high standards of educational achievement.  
The IEB is the governing body of the school and any reference in the Education Acts to 
a governor or foundation governor has effect as a reference to an interim executive 
member. During the interim period, when the governing body is constituted as an IEB, 
the requirements concerning the governing bodies constitution set out in the School 
Governance (Constitution) (England) Regulations 2012 do not apply.  
 
The IEB will take on the responsibilities of a normally constituted governing body, 
including the management of the budget, the curriculum, staffing, pay and performance 
management and the appointment of the headteacher and deputy headteacher. An IEB 
may recommend to a local authority, or recommend that the Secretary of State give a 
direction to a local authority, that a school should be closed. However, the IEB cannot 
itself publish proposals for closure. If, following the statutory consultation and other 
procedures, it is agreed that the school will be closed, the IEB should continue to hold 
office until the implementation date of the proposal. The IEB may also seek an academy 
order from the Secretary of State which enables the school to convert to an academy. 
Where a school has been found by Ofsted to be inadequate, the department is clear 

Page 81



 
 

27 
 

that academy status with a strong sponsor is the best way to bring about its rapid 
improvement. In these cases, we would expect the IEB to undertake its duties with a 
view to achieving this outcome.  

 
Membership of the IEB  
As set out in Schedule 6 to the 2006 Act the number of interim executive members must 
not be less than two. Once the IEB has been established, further interim executive 
members can be appointed at any time. An IEB should be a small, focused group 
appointed for the full period which it is expected to take to turn the school around. 
Members of an IEB should be chosen on a case by case basis, depending on the needs 
of the school but should normally include individuals with financial skills and experience 
of transformational educational improvement. Where the school is underperforming and 
there is already an agreed sponsor, we would expect that the sponsor should be on the 
IEB. If a sponsor is agreed during the operation of the IEB we would expect that a 
sponsor representative would join the IEB at that point. Members of an IEB bring a fresh 
outlook to the governance arrangements of the school, marking a clear break from the 
previous management of the school. In most cases, therefore, we would not expect 
existing governors who are vacating office to be nominated as IEB members (although 
this is not prohibited by the law). Local authorities who are considering doing this should 
contact the DfE to discuss the particular circumstances of the school.  
 
The IEB may arrange for the discharge of their functions to other people as they see fit 
(under paragraph 11(2) of Schedule 6 to the of the 2006 Act). In this way the IEB could 
continue to benefit from the experience of existing governors and help engage future 
governors.  
 
The local authority is able to nominate one of the members of the IEB to act as Chair.  
Interim executive members may be removed in limited circumstances. This can be for 
incapacity or misbehaviour or where their written notice of appointment provides for 
termination by the appropriate authority on notice. The appropriate authority may be the 
local authority or the Secretary of State depending on who made the original 
appointment.  
 
The local authority should produce a written notice of appointment for each member of 
the IEB. Copies of this notice should be sent to all other members of the IEB; the 
school’s existing governing body; the Secretary of State; and, in the case of foundation 
or voluntary schools, the diocesan or other appropriate appointing authority. A local 
authority or the Secretary of State may choose to pay interim executive members such 
remuneration and allowances as is considered appropriate.  
 

Power to appoint additional governors  
Section 64 enables a local authority to appoint additional governors where a school is 
eligible for intervention. The local authority is likely to appoint additional governors when 
they would like a school to be provided with additional expertise and may appoint as 
many additional governors as they think fit. In the case of a voluntary aided school 
where the local authority have exercised the power to appoint additional governors, the 
appropriate appointing authority in relation to that school may appoint an equal number 
of foundation governors to those appointed by the local authority, in order to preserve 
their majority.  

 

Page 82



 
 

28 
 

Timeframe  
Where the school is eligible for intervention as a result of being given a warning notice, 
this power must be exercised within a period of two months following the end of the 
compliance period. If the local authority fails to exercise this power within this time, it 
can no longer be exercised and a new warning notice must be given in order to do so. 
Where the local authority appoints additional governors there is no requirement to 
consult.  
 

Power to require the governing body to enter into arrangements  
Section 63 enables a local authority to require a school which is eligible for intervention 
to enter into arrangements with a view to improving the performance of the school. The 
local authority may give the governing body a notice requiring them:  

1. to enter into a contract or other arrangement  for specified services of an 
advisory nature with a specified person (who may be the governing body of 
another school);  

2. to make arrangements to collaborate with the governing body of another school;  
3. to make arrangements to collaborate with a further education body; or,  
4. to take specified steps for the purpose of creating or joining a federation.  

 
Timeframe  
Where the school is eligible for intervention as a result of being given a warning notice, 
this power must be exercised within a period of two months following the end of the 
compliance period. If the local authority fails to exercise this power within this time, it 
can no longer be exercised and a new warning notice must be given in order to do so.  

 
Consultation  
Before the local authority can exercise this intervention power they must consult:  

1. the governing body of the school;  
2. in the case of a Church of England school or a Roman Catholic Church school, 

the appropriate diocesan authority; and,  
3. in the case of any other foundation or voluntary school, the person or body by 

whom the foundation governors are appointed.  
 
A consultation must be undertaken when proposals are at a formative stage and include 
sufficient detail to allow those consulted to give a considered response. A final decision 
can only be taken after consideration has been given to any representations received. 
There is no statutory time scale in which the consultation process is to be completed. 
We would expect a normal consultation process to take about 10 (ten) days but this 
may vary depending on the circumstances of the case.  
 

Secretary of State's powers of intervention  
Where a school is eligible for intervention there are a number of powers the local 
authority or the Secretary of State may use to drive school improvement. These 
interventions are set out in sections 67 to 69 in respect of the Secretary of State.  
 

1. Power to appoint additional governors  
Section 67 of the 2006 Act allows the Secretary of State to appoint additional governors 
at any time a maintained school is eligible for intervention; the Secretary of State may 
appoint any such number of additional governors as he sees fit.  
 

Page 83



 
 

29 
 

Before making any appointment, the Secretary of State must consult:  
1. the local authority;  
2. the governing body of the school;  
3. in the case of a Church of England school or a Roman Catholic Church school, 

the appropriate diocesan authority; and,  
4. in the case of any other foundation or voluntary school, the person or body by 

whom the foundation governors are appointed.  
 
The Secretary of State may pay any governor appointed such remuneration and 
allowances as is considered appropriate. Where the Secretary of State has exercised 
this power, the local authority may not exercise their power to suspend the governing 
body's right to a delegated budget. The legislation provides that a voluntary aided 
school is not authorised to appoint foundation governors for the purpose of 
outnumbering the other governors appointed by the Secretary of State.  

 
2. Power to direct the closure of a school  
The Secretary of State may direct a local authority to cease to maintain a school where 
that school is eligible for intervention other than by virtue of section 60A of the 2006 Act. 
(non-compliance with teachers pay and conditions).  
This will usually be done where there is no prospect of the school making sufficient 
improvements. Before this power can be exercised the Secretary of State must 

consult
14 

 

1. the local authority and the governing body of the school;  
2. in the case of a Church of England school or a Roman Catholic Church school 

the appropriate diocesan authority;  
3. in the case of any other foundation or voluntary school the person or body by 

whom the foundation governors are appointed; and  
4. such other persons as the Secretary of State considers appropriate.  

If the direction to close a school has been given, the local authority will be expected to 
meet any costs of terminating staff contracts and make appropriate arrangements for 
the pupils’ continuing education, whether in a replacement school, or through transition 
to an alternative school.  
 

3. Power to provide for the governing body to consist of interim executive 
members  
Under Section 69 of the 2006 Act the Secretary of State may require the governing 
body of a school to be constituted as an IEB in accordance with Schedule 6 to the 2006 
Act where the school is eligible for intervention.  

Before this power can be exercised the Secretary of State must consult
15

:  
1. the local authority;  
2. the governing body of the school;  
3. in the case of a Church of England school or a Roman Catholic Church school, 

the appropriate diocesan authority; and,  
4. in the case of any other foundation or voluntary school the person or body by 

whom the foundation governors are appointed.  
 
This requirement to consult the bodies in 2, 3 and 4 above does not apply if the local 
authority has already done so in respect of their own proposal to appoint an IEB or if an 
academy order has effect in respect of the school.  

 

Page 84



 
 

30 
 

 
4. Power to make an academy order  
Section 4 of the Academies Act 2010 permits the Secretary of State to make an 
academy order in two circumstances: firstly, on the application of a school’s governing 
body; or secondly, if the school is eligible for intervention within the meaning of Part 4 of 
the 2006 Act. Before making an academy order in respect of a foundation or voluntary 
school with a foundation that is eligible for intervention, the Secretary of State must 
consult:  

1. the trustees of the school;  
2. the person and persons by whom the foundation governors are appointed; and,  
3. in the case of a school which has a religious character, the appropriate religious 

body.  
If an academy order is made in respect of a school, the Secretary of State must give a 
copy of the order to:  

1. the governing body of the school;  
2. the headteacher;  
3. the local authority; and,  
4. in the case of a foundation or voluntary school that has a foundation:  

1. (I)  the trustees of the school;  
2. (II)  the person and persons by whom the foundation governors are  

appointed; and,  
3. (III)  in the case of a school which has a religious character, the  

appropriate religious body.  
 
If an academy order is made in respect of a school which has a Foundation holding the 
freehold or leasehold of publically funded land, the Secretary of State may direct the 

Foundation to transfer the relevant land and buildings to the academy provider
16

.  
Under section 5 of the Academies Act 2010 before a maintained school can convert into 
an academy, the governing body must consult on the question of whether conversion 
should take place.  
 
In the case of a school eligible for intervention under Part 4 of the 2006 Act, the 
consultation may be carried out by the governing body of the school (or an IEB where 
appointed) or the person with whom the Secretary of State proposes to enter into 
academy arrangements in respect of the school or an educational institution that 
replaces it.  
 
The expectation is that a persistently underperforming school or a school that is in 
Ofsted category will become an academy. Any such academy would be a “sponsored” 
academy, meaning that the school would adopt governance arrangements, involving a 
strong external body (such as an organisation or a sponsoring school)., that will ensure 
that the school is supported in turning its performance around.  
 
The expectation would be that any strong school which was proposing to act as a 
sponsor would themselves also be an academy or willing to become an academy in 
order to take on the sponsorship role. Being an academy will allow the sponsoring 
school to use its academy freedoms to secure rapid improvement in both the school it is 
sponsoring, as well as its own school.  
 
 

Page 85



 
 

31 
 

 

Governance 
Non statutory guidance relating to governance  
Local authorities should take an active interest in the quality of governance in 
maintained schools. To prevent schools becoming “eligible for intervention” (as 
described in Section 2) local authorities should promote and support high standards of 
governance. To do so, they should be champions for high quality in school governance; 
help ensure that governors have the necessary skills; and have in place appropriate 
monitoring arrangements to identify signs of failure in relation to governors’ oversight of 
finance, safety or performance standards.  
 
Local authorities should also be able to provide governors with high quality training that 
is necessary to prevent schools from becoming “eligible for intervention” or at least be 
able to signpost governors to such training. Section 22 of the Education Act 2002 and 
the Ofsted inspection framework of local authority school improvement arrangements 
places strong expectations on local authorities in relation to promoting and providing 
appropriate training programmes for governors. Local authorities should note that 
governing bodies have the power to suspend governors where they refuse to undertake 
necessary training.  
 
Local authorities should have arrangements in place for maintaining records of 
governors in maintained schools. This can be used by the authority to aid 
communication with governors and provide for them to undertake any necessary due-
diligence. Ideally, the records should also include schools registers of interests and 
enable identification of governors who sit on more than one governing body. Information 
held by the local authority should also be made available to the Department for 
Education upon request.  
Where a local authority has concerns about governance within an academy in their area 
they should raise this with their local Regional Schools Commissioner or the EFA.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 86



 
 

32 
 

SCHOOL IMPROVEMENT and ACHIEVEMENT SERVICE 
School Categorisation and Support Level 

SUMMER 2015 – 2016 
 

School   

School Category   

Support Level 2015 – 2016  
School Improvement Policy  

 

 
Specify the support needed 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Specific strengths you would be willing to share with other schools 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Signature of Headteacher  

Signature of Chair of Governors  

Signature of the Senior School 
Improvement & Achievement Adviser 

 

Date Categorisation and support level 
validated 

 

 
 
 
 
 

Please return to:  Margaret_Simmons-Bird@bathnes.gov.uk  

Appendix C 

Page 87



 
 

33 
 

 

NOTE OF VISIT 

 

 
For office use only: 

Target Group 
Please tick 

Head T G SLT Middle Leaders TAs Pupils Other 

        
 

Copies 
To 

Please tick 

HT HEI Adviser Consultant C of G SAP Other 
Confidential 
by post 

        

   
CONFIDENTIAL 

School/Setting:  
 

Name of Visiting Adviser/Consultant/Officer:  
 

Date of 
Visit: 

 Time of Visit : from:  to:  

Preparation and Follow-up time:   Total time :   

LA Commissioned support � School Commissioned support � 

Activity 
Type: 

School Improvement Adviser 

Contact 
with: 

 

Purpose of visit, personnel involved, activities undertaken and issues discussed  

•  
 

Progress since last visit (e.g. on actions agreed/intended impact) 

•  

Conclusions/evaluative comments:  

•  
 

Agreed and anticipated outcome in school as a result of this visit: 

•  
 

Recommendations and agreed next actions: 
 

Who What When 

   

   

   

   

Date of next 
visit:   

 

Copies to: Headteacher, Chair of Governors, SSIA, School File.  
 Other:  

Appendix D 

Page 88



 
 

34 
 

 
Vulnerable Schools 

Progress Review Meeting 
A G E N D A 

Attendance: Headteacher, Chair of governors, Senior School Improvement Adviser, 
NLE/LLE 
Chair: Head of Education Improvement 

 

School:  Category:  

Date:  

Time:  

Venue:  

 
 

1. Welcome and introduction 

  

2. Minutes of last meeting 

 

3. Review of Action Plan 

 

4. Review and impact of support 

 

5. Personnel changes or additional needs arising 

 

6. Progress towards previous Ofsted key issues 

 

7. Overall evaluative comments 

 

8. Next steps  

 

9. Date of next meeting 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Appendix E 

Page 89



 
 

35 
 

Annual Summary Evaluation Report 2015 
 

School:           Date: 
 

Context of the school 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Attendance & Exclusions 2014 2015 

Overall absence   

Persistent Absence   

FX   

PX   

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

Ofsted Inspection (Date) Overall 

  

  

Self Evaluation  

Effectiveness of Leadership and Management   

Quality of teaching, learning and assessment   

Personal development, behaviour and welfare  

Outcomes for children and learners  

Ofsted Key Issues 

 
 

LA/School identified areas of development (including FSM): 

 
 
 
 

Impact of LA Commissioned Support (if appropriate): 

 
 
 
 

Impact of school to school support: 

 
 
 
 

LA /School Category & Comment/External Evaluation: 

 
 
 
 

Key Issues for Governance: 

 
 
 

Appendix F 

Page 90



 
 

36 
 

Outcomes overtime 
 

Combined Reading, Writing  & Maths 2014 2015  KS1 Phonics 2014 2015 

Reading, Writing & Maths combined L4+       

Reading, Writing &  Maths combined L5+    Y2   

 
 

Attainment Reading, Writing, SPAG 2014 2015  Progress English 2014 2015 

Reading L4+    2 levels progress in Writing   

Writing L4+    2 levels progress in Mathematics   

Reading L5+    3+levels progress in Writing   

Writing L5+    3+levels progress in Mathematics   

Reading L6       

Writing L6       

SPAG L4+       

SPAG L5+       

 

 
Attainment Maths 2014 2015  Progress Maths 2014 2015 

Mathematics L4+    2 levels progress in mathematics   

MathematicsL5+    3+levels progress in mathematics   

Mathematics L6       

 
 

 

Attainment Gap Reading 

2014 2015 

Cohort School Cohort School 

All pupils     

Disadv.      

Non Disadv.       

 School Gap     

 
 
 

 

Progress Gap Reading 

2014 2015 

Cohort School Cohort  School  

All pupils     

Disadv.     

Non Disadv.     

 School Gap     

 
 

 
 
Headteacher: ����������������.                       Chair of Governors:  ��������������. 
 
 
 
School Improvement Adviser:  ���������������������. 

 
 

 

Attainment Gap Writing 

2014 2015 

Cohort School Cohort School 

All pupils     

Disadv.      

Non Disadv.       

School Gap     

 

Progress Gap Writing  

2014 2015 

Cohort School Cohort  School  

All pupils     

Disadv.     

Non Disadv.     

School Gap     

 

Attainment Gap Mathematics 

2014  

Cohort School   

All pupils     

Disav.     

Non Disadv.     

 School Gap     

 

Progress Gap Mathematics 

2015  

Cohort School Cohort  School  

All pupils     

Disav.     

Non Disadv.     

School Gap     

Page 91



 
 

37 
 

Annual Summary Evaluation Report  
 

School:           Date: 
 

Context of the school 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Ofsted Inspection (Date) Overall 

  

  

Self Evaluation  

Effectiveness of Leadership and Management   

Quality of teaching, learning and assessment   

Personal development, behaviour and welfare  

Outcomes for children and learners  

Ofsted Key Issues 

 
 

LA/School identified areas of development (including FSM): 

 
 
 
 

Impact of LA Commissioned Support (if appropriate): 

 
 
 
 

Impact of school to school support: 

 
 
 
 

LA /School Category & Comment/External Evaluation: 

 
 
 
 

Key Issues for Governance: 

 
 
 

Page 92



 
 

38 
 

Outcomes overtime 
 

Attendance 20 %  Exclusions  

Overall absence   FTE  

Persistent Absence   Permanent  

 
 

GCSE Attainment 

Cohort 5A*-C EM % EBacc % 
Attainment Average 
Grade 

National    

LA    

All Students    

Girls    

Boys    

Disadvantaged    

Non Disadvantage    

SEN    

Non SEN    

 
GCSE Progress - ENGLISH 

Cohort Expected Progress 3+% 

 

More than Expected 4+% 

National   

LA   

All Students   

Girls   

Boys   

Disadvantaged   

Non Disadvantage   

SEN   

Non SEN   

 
GCSE Progress – MATHS 

Cohort Expected Progress 3+% 

 

More than Expected 4+% 

National   

LA   

All Students   

Girls   

Boys   

Disadvantaged   

Non Disadvantage   

SEN   

Non SEN   

 

GCSE Disadvantaged 3 Year Trend Gaps - % achieving 5+ A*-C GCSEs  
(or equivalent) including English & Maths GCSEs 

 

Cohort 2013 2014 2015 

National    

LA    

School    

 
 
 

Page 93



 
 

39 
 

GCSE: Attainment by ability 

 
 

GCSE 
 

Cohort 5A*-C EM English: 
Progress 
Expected 

English: more 
than expected 
progress 

Maths: 
expected 
progress 

Maths: 
more than 
expected 
progress 

National      

LA      

School      

Lower Ability      

Middle Ability      

Higher Ability      

 
 

Destination 2015;. 
 

Number of Pupils Total in Sustained 
Education % 

Education Destinations 
not Sustained % 

Not known % 

National    

LA    

School    

 

A Levels: These measures include all A level and AS level results of all students at the end of Y13  

 
 

A Levels: Attainment Measure 
 

 APS per entry APS per student 

National   

LA   

School   

 

 
A Levels: Threshold Measure 

 

 % Achieving 3 or 
more A-E 

% Achieving 2 or 
more A-E 

% Achieving 1 or 
more A-E 

Exam entry 
expressed as a 
grade 

National     

LA     

School     

 
 

 
 
 
Headteacher: ����������������.                       Chair of Governors:  ��������������. 
 
 
 
School Improvement Adviser:  ���������������������.. 

 
Value Added KS4 to end of Y13 

 

 Value Added Score 

National  

LA  

School  

Page 94



 
 

40 
 

PROCESS FOR RAISING CONCERNS AROUND CONDUCT AND PERFORMANCE 

 

 
 

For individual Academies – initial expression of concern discussed between the senior 
manager of the Academy and relevant senior manager or Senior Adviser at Bath and North 

East Somerset Council 
 

 
 

If the above fails to resolve the matter it may be referred to the Director for Children & Young 
People – Strategy and Commissioning, at Bath and North East Somerset Council or to the 

Headteacher if a third party raises concerns about the Academy 
 

 
       

Bath and North East Somerset Council may choose to make representation to the Board of 
the Academy Trust or the Early Years and Youth Scrutiny Panel may also wish to explore 

issues with Academies 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Open door’ dialogue at school level or through strategic forum including phase associations 

 

 
If the above process fails to resolve matters, the parties may wish to take the matter to 

mediation where an agreed independent third party will advise on how the matter should be 
resolved 

 

  
The Local Authority may decide to make representation to the Education Funding Agency, 
Ofsted, or in the final resort, the Secretary of State.  The Local Authority will only do so once 
all other avenues of negotiation have been exhausted, or if the matter is so serious it cannot 
be resolved locally 
 

Page 95



 
 

41 
 

 
Key functions of Teaching and Learning Consultant Narrowing the Gap 
� support identified schools in improving the quality teaching and learning in order to 

narrow the achievement gaps 
� support subject leaders in developing their effectiveness in their understanding and 

use of assessment data to plan and inform next steps in learning 
� ensure the LA statutory functions for assessment is carried out and reported to the 

Standards & Teaching Agency (STA) 
� monitor, evaluate and report the impact of the Pupil Premium 
� signpost schools to relevant Continuing Professional Development (CPD). 

 
Key functions of the Personal, Social & Health Education (PSHE) & Drug 
Education Consultant 
� advise and support schools on all aspects of PSHE policy, curriculum, resource 

bullying, playground behaviour, pupil and staff bereavement, equalities, Stonewall 
School Champions programme 

� provide training for teachers and other school support staff on all aspects of PSHE 
� deliver and broker training as required around drug & alcohol education, sex and 

relationships education (including child sexual exploitation), mental health 
awareness, and other  risk taking behaviours  

� chair various multi-agency groups (the Young People’s Substance Misuse Group, 
the Anti-Bullying Strategy Group, the Challenging Homophobia and Transphobia 
Steering Group).  Work with a range of partners including Children, Child & 
Adolescent Mental Health Service (CAMHS), Off the Record, Project 28, Mentoring 
Plus, the Black Families Service to ensure appropriate support for vulnerable 
children and young people. 
 

Key functions of the Director of Public Health (DPH) Award Coordinator 
� to develop, implement and co-ordinate all aspects of the DPH Award 
� to ensure the Award criteria reflect local and national priorities and standards e.g. 

OFSTED, School Food Plan (SFP), Early Years Foundation Stage (EYFS) 
� to provide support to enable greater participation of families, carers and the wider 

community in the planning and delivery of health improvement activity 
� to link with other services e.g. health improvement services, the play team and the 

School Sports Partnership, School Nurses and wider community and regional 
partners to promote the provision of services and increase referrals 

� to ensure that robust data is available and used to inform schools prioritisation and 
action planning and an evidence base for assessing progress (e.g. Schools & 
Students Health Education Unit (SHEU) survey data and other school/setting health 
profile data)  

� ensure the DPH Award addresses health inequalities among children and young 
people and contributes to priorities in current Children and Young People’s Plan and 
Health and Well Being Strategy.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 96



 
 

42 
 

 
The Early Years and Foundation Stage Team 
 
The EYFS service engages with all Early Years - group based, home based and school 
settings working with children from birth to the transition into Year 1.  The sector is 
diverse including private, voluntary, independent and maintained provision.  
The EYFS team is highly experienced in providing targeted support and working 
alongside settings on a wide range of areas, focussed on raising attainment for all 
children.   
 
The service provides:  
 

• Support with self evaluation and quality improvement   
 

• Inclusion: Support through training, cluster support and consultation visits  
 

• EYFS Profile moderation support and data analysis 
 

• Wraparound childcare and Play 
 
 
The service is quality assured and team members have access to high quality training.  
We work in close partnership with the EYFS Business team to support the set up and 
sustainability of EY provision. We work alongside the School Improvement & 
Achievement Team to provide commissioned support, challenge and intervention as 
appropriate.  
 
For more information contact: 
 
Julie Eden, Senior Early Years Consultant 
julie_eden@bathnes.gov.uk 
Telephone: 01225 394486 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 97



 
 

43 
 

 
 
THE VIRTUAL SCHOOL 

 

There are over 110 pupils in the care of Bath and North East Somerset of compulsory 
school age - some two thirds are educated in Bath and North East Somerset area 
schools and the rest in state schools outside the LA or in the independent sector.  The 
virtual school supposes that they all attend one school – the virtual school.  By 
collecting data on progress, attendance and behaviour we can monitor their 
performance and can work with schools to target support for those who are falling 
behind.  We also track the progress of children in the care of other authorities who are 
educated in Bath and North East Somerset area schools.   
 

Our aim is that all our children in care make the same or better progress in their 
learning compared with their peers.  
 
The Virtual school supports children in care by: 
� Providing expert support to children, social workers and carers right from Early 

Years to FE on a whole range of issues, ranging from which school to attend to 
planning for 14-19 and HE 

� Supporting the creation and monitor the quality of Personal Education Plans (PEPs) 
to ensure they are strongly focussed on learning outcomes 

� Targeting resources such as the Learning Support Team where it is needed most 
� Ensuring that school placements continue wherever possible, even when care 

placements change, and support transition when school placements do change  
� Providing support to designated teachers, social workers and carers through training 

and networking 
� Getting involved quickly when things go wrong    
� Helping to speed up decision making where several agencies and teams are 

involved with a child   
� Procuring extra resources, for example for boarding provision, gifted and talented 

pupils and Aim Higher projects  
� Listening and respond to the voice of our children in care.   

 
Michael Gorman, Head of Bath & North East Somerset Virtual Schools  
michael_gorman@bathnes.gov.uk  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Page 98



Bath and  North East Somerset – The place to live, work and visit

Briefing on new schools

Children & Young People Policy 

Development & Scrutiny Panel 

September 2015 A
genda Item

 11

P
age 99



Bath and  North East Somerset – The place to live, work and visit

The LA has an ongoing statutory duty (s14 Ed 

Act 1996) to ensure sufficient school places 

when and where needed

Population growth and housing developments 

require a substantial programme of school 

expansions and creation of new schools

New processes and increasingly challenging!

Introduction:

P
age 100



Bath and  North East Somerset – The place to live, work and visit

Academies, Free Schools, Studio Schools

New Schools – Free School presumption -

process to identify a proposer

Community Infrastructure Levy

More than 85% of primary pupils attend 

schools which are good or outstanding

Nearly 92% get a place at 1st preference 

school; over 93% secure one of 3 preferences

Context:

P
age 101



Bath and  North East Somerset – The place to live, work and visit

School Organisation Plan details current and 

projected pupil numbers in each area

Uses current pupil numbers/trends, birth 

data, knowledge of planned housing 

developments, formulae for pupil yield

Consider feasibility of expanding intake of 

local schools by remodelling/building

Use ‘bulge’ classes where appropriate

Place Planning:

P
age 102



Bath and  North East Somerset – The place to live, work and visit

Revenue:

– Direct Schools Grant (formula)

– Short-term support

Capital:

- DfE Basic Need Grant

- Developer contributions

- Section 106

- CIL

Funding:

P
age 103



Bath and  North East Somerset – The place to live, work and visit

1,580 extra primary places created at 29 

schools

1,925 more needed at 10 schools

4-6 new schools 2017-2029 for new housing

developments

Opportunities to expand/build are limited

The scale of expansion:

P
age 104



Bath and  North East Somerset – The place to live, work and visit

eg Somerdale, Foxhill/Mulberry Park –

Single developer builds school

eg Ensleigh – Multiple developers plus 

underlying growth, LA builds school

Free School route – can gain approval 

independently and identify premises or 

seek DfE capital

Working with Developers:

P
age 105



Bath and  North East Somerset – The place to live, work and visit

Free Schools, with prescribed process for 

appointment of new school 

operators/sponsors

LA invites expressions of interest and may 

identify a preferred bidder to DfE

Secretary of State for Education decides 

and informs successful bidder

Who will run new schools?

P
age 106



Bath and  North East Somerset – The place to live, work and visit

• an ambitious vision of educational excellence 

for all children 

• high quality leadership and management

• strong, effective and dynamic governance 

• leadership capacity and high quality 

professional standards to sustain improvement

• welfare and safeguarding of children are 

paramount

• robust and effective financial management

Applicants must demonstrate:

P
age 107



Bath and  North East Somerset – The place to live, work and visit

Timeline:-

Launch of process: 10 July

Open event: 18 Sept

Closing date: 16 Oct

Interviews: Nov

DfE decision Feb 16?

School open Sep 17

P
age 108



1

CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE POLICY DEVELOPMENT AND 
SCRUTINY PANEL

This Forward Plan seeks to anticipate all the decisions to be made by the Panel.

Inevitably, some of the published information may change; Government guidance recognises that the plan is a best assessment, at the time of 

publication, of anticipated decision making.  The online Forward Plan is updated regularly and can be seen on the Council’s website at:

http://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/mgPlansHome.aspx?bcr=1

The Forward Plan goes beyond the minimum legal requirement for only key decisions to be published over the coming four month period, and 

demonstrates the Council’s commitment to openness and participation in decision making.  It assists the Panel in planning their input to policy formulation 

and development, and in reviewing the work of the Cabinet.

Should you wish to make representations, please contact the report author or Mark Durnford, Democratic Services (01225 394458).  For meeting items, a 

formal agenda will be issued 5 clear working days before the meeting.  

Agenda papers can be inspected on the Council’s website and at the Guildhall (Bath), Hollies (Midsomer Norton),Civic Centre (Keynsham) and at Bath 

Central, Keynsham and Midsomer Norton public libraries.

The Council's Consultation Policy may be viewed at: www.bathnes.gov.uk/Bathnes/councilinformation/consultation/default.htm

A
genda Item

 14

P
age 109



15TH SEPTEMBER 2015

15 Sep 
2015

Primary School & Young 
People Parliaments
The Panel will receive a 
presentation relating to this 
item.

CYP PDS
Councillor Lisa 

Brett

Sarah 
McCluskey
Tel: 01225 

394464

Strategic 
Director - 
People

15 Sep 
2015

School Admissions
The Panel will receive a report 
on this item.

CYP PDS
Councillor Lisa 

Brett

Kevin Amos
Tel: 01225 

395202

Strategic 
Director - 
People

15 Sep 
2015

Draft School Improvement 
and Achievement Policy
The Panel requested this report 
at their March 2015 meeting.

CYP PDS
Councillor Lisa 

Brett

Margaret 
Simmons-Bird

Tel: 01225 
394240

Strategic 
Director - 
People

15 Sep 
2015

New Schools Briefing
CYP PDS

Councillor Lisa 
Brett

Mike Bowden
Tel: 01225 

395610

Strategic 
Director - 
People

17TH NOVEMBER 2015

17 Nov 
2015

Annual Report on Children’s 
Services Compliments and 
Complaints 2014-15

CYP PDS
Councillor Lisa 

Brett

Stephen Mason, 
Sarah Watts
Tel: 01225 

396974, Tel: 
01225 477931

Strategic 
Director - 
People

Ref
Date

Dec’n
Type

Title
Precis

Lead Decision 
Maker/s

Report Author
Contact

Background Papers
Strategic 
Director 

Lead

Date
First

Notified

P
age 110



17 Nov 
2015

Care Bill - Implications for 
Children
The Panel will receive a report 
on this item.

CYP PDS
Councillor Lisa 

Brett

Lesley 
Hutchinson
Tel: 01225 

396339

Strategic 
Director - 
People

17 Nov 
2015

Children's Centres / Staff 
Mutual Update
The Panel will receive a report 
on this matter.

CYP PDS
Councillor Lisa 

Brett

Deborah 
Forward

Tel: 01225 
395305

Strategic 
Director - 
People

12TH JANUARY 2016

22ND MARCH 2016

22 Mar 
2016

Education Results 2015
The Panel will receive a report 
on this matter.

CYP PDS
Councillor Lisa 

Brett

Margaret 
Simmons-Bird

Tel: 01225 
394240

Strategic 
Director - 
People

17TH MAY 2016

17 May 
2016

Update on implementation of 
Children's Centres & Services
The Panel requested a report on 
this matter at their March 2015 
meeting.

CYP PDS
Councillor Lisa 

Brett

Deborah 
Forward

Tel: 01225 
395305

Strategic 
Director - 
People

12TH JULY 2016

ITEMS YET TO BE SCHEDULED

School Attendance / 
Exclusions
The Panel will receive a report 
on this matter.

CYP PDS
Councillor Lisa 

Brett

Christopher 
Wilford

Strategic 
Director - 
People

Ref
Date

Dec’n
Type

Title
Precis

Lead Decision 
Maker/s

Report Author
Contact

Background Papers
Strategic 
Director 

Lead

Date
First

Notified

P
age 111



Child Sexual Exploitation
The Panel will receive a report 
on this item.

CYP PDS
Councillor Lisa 

Brett

Richard Baldwin
Tel: 01225 

396289

Strategic 
Director - 
People

Special Educational Needs & 
Disability Reform
The Panel will receive a report 
on this matter.

CYP PDS
Councillor Lisa 

Brett

Charlie Moat
Tel: 01225 

477914

Strategic 
Director - 
People

Review of Community Play 
and Specialist Family Support 
Services
The Panel will receive a report 
on this matter.

CYP PDS
Councillor Lisa 

Brett

Deborah 
Forward

Tel: 01225 
395305

Strategic 
Director - 
People

Healthy Weight Forum 
Presentation
Councillor Dine Romero, 
Cabinet Member for Early 
Years, Children & Youth 
suggested that the Panel 
receives a presentation on the 
work of the Forum.

CYP PDS
Councillor Lisa 

Brett

Denice Burton
Tel: 01225 

394061

Strategic 
Director - 
People

The Forward Plan is administered by DEMOCRATIC SERVICES:  Mark Durnford 01225 394458  Democratic_Services@bathnes.gov.uk

Ref
Date

Dec’n
Type

Title
Precis

Lead Decision 
Maker/s

Report Author
Contact

Background Papers
Strategic 
Director 

Lead

Date
First

Notified

P
age 112


	Agenda
	7 MINUTES - 15th July 2015
	8 Primary School & Young People Parliaments
	Appdx1
	Appdx2

	9 School Admissions
	AppdxA
	AppdxB

	10 Draft School Improvement and Achievement Policy
	Appdx1

	11 New Schools Briefing
	14 Panel Workplan

